Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Biophysical Chemistry



journal homepage: http://www.elsevier.com/locate/biophyschem

Review Lipid ion channels

T. Heimburg

Niels Bohr Institute, University of Copenhagen, Denmark

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 8 January 2010 Received in revised form 27 February 2010 Accepted 27 February 2010 Available online 11 March 2010

Keywords: Lipid pores Phase transitions Anesthetics Channel proteins Fluctuation-dissipation Electroporation

ABSTRACT

The interpretation of electrical phenomena in biomembranes is usually based on the assumption that the experimentally found discrete ion conduction events are due to a particular class of proteins called ion channels while the lipid membrane is considered being an inert electrical insulator. The particular protein structure is thought to be related to ion specificity, specific recognition of drugs by receptors and to macroscopic phenomena as nerve pulse propagation. However, lipid membranes in their chain melting regime are known to be highly permeable to ions, water and small molecules, and are therefore not always inert. In voltage-clamp experiments one finds quantized conduction events through protein-free membranes in their melting regime similar to or even undistinguishable from those attributed to proteins. This constitutes a conceptual problem for the interpretation of electrophysiological data obtained from biological membrane preparations.

Here, we review the experimental evidence for lipid ion channels, their properties and the physical chemistry underlying their creation. We introduce into the thermodynamic theory of membrane fluctuations from which the lipid channels originate. Furthermore, we demonstrate how the appearance of lipid channels can be influenced by the alteration of the thermodynamic variables (e.g., temperature, pressure, tension and chemical potentials) in a coherent description that is free of parameters. This description leads to pores that display dwell times closely coupled to the fluctuation lifetime via the fluctuation–dissipation theorem. Drugs as anesthetics and neurotransmitters are shown to influence the channel likelihood and their lifetimes in a predictable manner. We also discuss the role of proteins in influencing the likelihood of lipid channel formation.

© 2010 Published by Elsevier B.V.

Contents

1. Introduction			
2.	Macroscopic changes of permeability in transitions	3	
	2.1. Experiments	3	
3.	Fechniques for measurement of lipid channel activity	5	
	3.1. Black lipid membranes/Montal–Mueller technique	5	
	3.2. Patch-clamp technique	5	
4.	.ipid channels	5	
	4.1. Early experiments	6	
	4.2. Dependence of channel formation of the melting transition	7	
	4.3. Specificity of lipid channels	8	
5.	Fheoretical considerations	9	
	5.1. Pore models	9	
	5.2. Entropy, thermodynamic variables and forces	9	
	5.3. Susceptibilities	11	
	5.4. Coupling of compressibilities with the heat capacity	11	
	5.5. Permeability	11	
6.	nfluence of changes of variables on the lipid channels	12	
	5.1. Temperature	12	
	5.2. Pressure and lateral tension	13	
	5.3. Anesthetics, neurotransmitters and other drugs	13	

E-mail address: theimbu@nbi.dk.

URL: membranes.nbi.dk.

0301-4622/\$ – see front matter 0 2010 Published by Elsevier B.V. doi:10.1016/j.bpc.2010.02.018

	6.4.	Voltage, pH and calcium	13
		6.4.1. Voltage	14
		6.4.2. Protons and pH	14
		6.4.3. Calcium	14
	6.5.	Other variables	15
	6.6.	Free energy of channel formation.	15
7.	Chani	nel lifetimes	16
	7.1.	Theoretical considerations	16
	7.2.	Experiments	17
8.	Interf	faces: domains and proteins	17
	8.1.	Domain interfaces	18
	8.2.	Proteins as membrane perturbations	19
9.	Discu	ission	19
	9.1.	Comparison with proteins	19
	9.2.	Nerve pulses	20
10.	Concl	lusion.	20
	Acknow	/ledgments	20
	Referen	ces	20

1. Introduction

Biological membranes mainly consist of a lipid bilayer into which proteins are embedded. The mass (or volume) ratio between proteins and lipids ranges between 0.25 (lung surfactant) and 4 (purple membrane of halobacteria). Typically, biomembranes display a protein–lipid ratio of approximately one. This includes the extra-membraneous parts of the proteins and surface-associated protein. Therefore, the intra-membrane parts of the proteins represent a smaller fraction of the central part of the membrane. Thus, even in densely crowded biological membranes most of the in-plane membrane area consists of lipids.

Textbook models about the electrical transport properties of membranes consider the lipid bilayer as an electrical insulator. For instance, the Hodgkin–Huxley model of the nervous impulse considers the membrane as an inert capacitor and attributes currents to conductance changes occurring in ion selective protein channels [1]. The activity of protein ion channels is associated to quantized current events of order of 1–50 pA (pico Ampères) at a voltage of order 100 mV corresponding to channel conductances of about 10–500 pS (pico Siemens). The typical open-dwell time of such channels is of the order of a few milliseconds.

Interestingly, however, synthetic lipid membranes close to phase transitions are not inert but are very permeable for small molecules [2], ions [2–5] and water [6]. Further, they display stepwise conductance events very similar to those of proteins, i.e., with similar conductances and life times (some early publications: [7–12]). In their appearance, they are practically indistinguishable from recordings of proteincontaining membranes. Although this is surprisingly little known, it constitutes a severe problem for the investigation of biological membranes and protein channels. These events will be called lipid channels throughout this manuscript. The finding of an enhanced lipid membrane permeability close to transitions is particularly important since biomembranes seem to exist in a state slightly (about 10–15 °C) above melting transitions. The membrane compositions of fish and bacteria adapt upon changes in body temperature, pressure or solvent conditions such that this membrane state is maintained (reviewed in [13], see also calorimetric traces of bacterial membranes in [14-16] and consider that the composition in lipid composition responds in a linear fashion to changes in bacterial growth temperature [17,18], growth pressure [19] and solvents in the growth medium [20]). It seems therefore plausible to assuming a functional purpose for preserving a particular physical state of the membrane.

The most common ways to measure conductances of membranes are the black lipid membrane (BLM) technique by Montal and Mueller [21] and the patch-clamp technique pioneered by Neher and Sakmann [22]. In the Montal–Mueller technique an artificial membrane is formed over a small hole in a teflon film (normally with a diameter of 50–250 µm). The patch-clamp technique relies on the measurement of currents through small membrane patches defined by a glass capillary of diameters ranging from 1 to 10 µm. While the Montal-Mueller technique is suited for measuring artificial systems of defined composition, e.g., one single protein species reconstituted into a single lipid bilayer, the patch-clamp method is mainly used for recording currents through biological membranes with complex and often unknown composition. Patch pipettes have also been used for measurements on synthetic BLMs [23,24]. In both techniques, the observed membrane area is much larger than that of a protein. The diameter of an ion channel protein, e.g. the potassium channel, is about 5 nm. This implies that the smallest patch in a patch-clamp experiment (diameter ~1 µm) is already 40,000 times larger than the crosssectional area of the protein. The hole in a BLM experiment is rather 400 million times larger than a typical protein channel area (assuming an aperture of 100 μ m). However, the electrophysiological experiment in itself cannot tell along which path the ion currents flow. Thus, if one wants to attribute a particular current event to a protein one has to assume that at least 99.998% of the surrounding membrane (including the other membrane proteins) is inert in the electrophysiological experiment. However, it can generally not be excluded on the basis of the experiment itself that during an electrophysiological experiment one also finds currents through the lipid membrane. In the Hodgkin–Huxley paper [1], the possibility of leak currents is included. If these were structureless small amplitude currents in the background this would not represent a major problem. However, leak currents represent a significant conceptual problem to protein channel recordings if they display a similar signature as the protein events.

The purpose of this review is to demonstrate that in fact the ion currents through lipid membranes resemble those through proteins to a degree that they become indistinguishable. Their occurrence depends on temperature, lateral tension, membrane-associated drugs as anesthetics and neurotransmitters, pH, calcium concentration, voltage and other thermodynamic variables. Here, we review the literature on membrane permeability and lipid ion channels, and introduce into the thermodynamics of their creation. In this context we discuss a possible role for proteins as membrane perturbations that alter the state of the lipid membrane.

2. Macroscopic changes of permeability in transitions

2.1. Experiments

During the 1960s and 70s, many researchers were investigating the permeability of biomembranes for ions. Proteins were assumed



Fig. 1. Left: Permeability of DPPG vesicles for radioactive sodium, $^{22}Na^+$, close to the melting transition, adapted from [3]. Right: Permeability of DMPC membranes for Co²⁺. Courtesy O.G. Mouritsen, cf. [5]. The dotted profiles are a guide to the eye. The dotted vertical line marks the melting transition temperature, T_m .

being the major players. However, accurate controls of the permeability of the lipid membrane for ions in the absence of proteins were necessary. Hauser et al. [25] studied the permeability of lipid extracts from egg yolk or ox brain and found the permeability for ions being small compared to the permeability of biological membranes. The authors concluded that the role of the lipid bilayer for permeability is negligible for the case of a biological membrane suggesting that the predominant part of permeability has to be attributed to proteins.

However, it was soon shown that the permeability can be orders of magnitude larger close to the chain melting regime of lipid membranes. Papahadjopoulos et al. [3] were the first to demonstrate that the permeability for sodium ions (they used radiolabeled ²²Na⁺ ions) increased by at least a factor of 100 in the phase transitions of dipalmitoyl phosphatidylglycerol (DPPG) and dipalmitoyl phosphatidylcholine (DPPC) in agreement with the phase transitions of these lipids as measured by fluorescence changes of embedded markers. The permeability curve for DPPG membranes is shown in Fig. 1 (left). The permeation time scales in this paper seem extremely small (of the order of hours) which might be related to the fact that none of the data points was recorded at the phase transition directly. The permeation profile for DPPC was found to be similar (not shown). It was demonstrated that cholesterol both abolishes the permeability maximum and the chain melting discontinuity. Along the same lines Sabra et al. [5] found that the permeability of dimyristoyl phophatidylcholine (DMPC) membranes for Co^{2+} was drastically enhanced in the phase transition regime (Fig. 1, right). These authors also demonstrated that the insecticide lindane changes the permeability. This phenomenon will be discussed in more detail in Section 6.3.

Jansen and Blume [6] showed that membranes in their transition are much more permeable to water (Fig. 2, left). Vesicles filled with D₂O display a contrast with respect to an H₂O background leading to enhanced light scattering in an optical experiment. Permeation for D₂O was monitored in a rapid mixing stopped-flow experiment. It leads to a mixing of H₂O and D₂O and a loss of scattering contrast. The authors found that the permeability of a DMPC membrane changes strongly in the phase transition regime such that exchange of water from a vesicle is complete after 2 ms, the fastest time that could be recorded in this experiment. The same finding was reported for other lipids as DPPC and distearoyl phosphatidylcholine (DSPC), a series of phosphatidyl ethanolamines, phosphatidylserines and phosphatidylglycerols, rendering this study one of the most complete works on membrane permeability. Since water permeability typically is discussed in the context of aquaporines [26] it is important to point out the membrane itself is highly permeable to water once one is close to a transition, which seems to be the case for many biological membranes [13,16]. Blicher et al. [2] found in fluorescence correlation spectroscopy measurements that vesicles mixtures of DPPC and DPPG became significantly more permeable for the positively charged fluorescence marker rhodamine 6G (R6G) in the phase transition regime (Fig. 2, right). While the permeation time scale in the solid lipid phase was of the order of many hours, it was 100 s and faster in the transition regime (the fastest time scale that could be recorded in



Fig. 2. Left: Permeation time scale for water. Light scattering of DMPC vesicles filled with D_2O in a H_2O environment is monitored after a fixed time in a stopped-flow experiment. The decrease of the scattering amplitude close to $T_m = 23.7$ °C is due to fast mixing of D_2O and H_2O . Adapted from [6]. The dotted line is a guide to the eye. Right: The permeation rate of Rhodamine 6G out of vesicles from a mixture of DPPC and DPPG (95:5) in the presence of 200 mM NaCl. The solid line is the experimental heat capacity profile for vesicles of the identical preparation. Adapted from [2].

the FCS experiment). The characteristic dimension of this marker is approximately 1 nm. A control experiment with a fluorescent-labeled sugar that is larger than R6G did not show any measurable permeation on the timescale of hours. This demonstrates that

- 1. vesicles stay intact and do not rupture in the transition. One may confidently assume that this is also the case for the experiments shown in Figs. 1 and 2 (left).
- 2. sizes of pores responsible for the permeation process must be of nm-size.

The conduction for ions and small molecules described in this section was named 'macroscopic' permeability because the experiments were made on ensembles of vesicles. This kind of measurement describes the relation of the lipid melting events and the permeability correctly but does not make any statement on the molecular nature of any permeation process. The latter will be discussed in more detail below in Section 4.

3. Techniques for measurement of lipid channel activity

The electrical properties of lipid bilayers and biological membranes are measured through small membrane patches defined by a hole in a hydrophobic substrate [21] (black lipid membranes), the tip of a glass pipette [27] (patch-clamp), or more recently by a hole in a glass surface on a chip [28] in a technique called 'planar patch-clamp'. Both Montal–Mueller and patch-clamp techniques have been used to investigate permeability and channel formation in pure lipid membranes and are briefly described below.

3.1. Black lipid membranes/Montal-Mueller technique

In 1972, Montal and Mueller [21] described a method to form lipid bilayers over a hole in a thin hydrophobic film (e.g., teflon) from monolayers. First, a monolayer is formed on an electrolyte surface from a solvent solution, typically containing decane, octane, hexane, pentane, chloroform or other apolar solvents. The monolayer trough is then separated by a teflon film into two compartments. A tiny hole in the film (several 10 μ m) created by a needle or by an electric spark is located slightly above the monolayer surface. The level of the aqueous buffer is now raised and the monolayers fold over the aperture in the teflon film as shown schematically in Fig. 3 (left). The monolayers merge into a bilayer at the edge of the teflon aperture. At these edges considerable mechanical tension of quite unclear physics was observed. In order to reduce this tension the teflon aperture is normally pre-painted with hexadecane, a long-chain alkane that is practically water insoluble. Hexadecane must be considered as impurification that accumulates at the edge of the aperture. It is quite difficult to estimate how much hexadecane is dissolved in the membrane. For this reason, the composition of the membrane is always somewhat unclear even when the composition of the monofilm is exactly known.

Currents are measured with electrodes in the two compartments in a voltage-clamp experiment. The capacitance can be measured by continuously changing voltage such that dV/dt = const. The capacitance $C_{\rm m}$ is obtained from the capacitive current $I_{\rm c} = C_{\rm m} dV/dt$ necessary to charge the capacitor (assuming that the capacitance itself is a constant, $dC_{\rm m}/dt = 0$, which may not necessarily be correct if voltage changes the state of the membrane). The measurement of the capacitance is required to ensure that only one single membrane has formed. Typical capacitances of membranes are between 0.6 and 1 µF/cm².

Membranes forming over a hole appear black in visible light due to destructive interference of light reflected from the two bilayer surfaces. They are called black lipid membranes (BLMs) because their formation can be seen by visual inspection under a microscope. The typical hole diameter in a Montal–Mueller experiment is 50 to 250 µm (Fig. 3, left bottom). The disadvantage of this technique is the



Fig. 3. Two methods to study currents through artificial membranes. Left: In the Montal–Mueller technique [21] two monolayers merge into a bilayer over an aperture in a teflon film. Typical aperture size is $50-250 \,\mu$ m. Right: One can also generate a membrane patch on a glass pipette tip dipped into the surface of a Langmuir monolayer trough [23,24]. Typical pipette tip sizes are $1-10 \,\mu$ m. The drawings were adapted from [31]. The two microscopic images on the bottom show the holes in a teflon film [39] and a pipette tip used for experiments in our lab (courtesy Katrine R. Laub, NBI).

presence of solvent impurities and the large tension at the edge of the teflon aperture. Furthermore, due to the large diameter of the hole the membranes are often quite unstable. However, this technique is often used to study lipid membrane permeability but also the conductance through channel proteins and peptide pores.

3.2. Patch-clamp technique

The patch-clamp technique has been introduced by Neher and Sakmann [22] and was described in detail by Hamill et al. [27]. It was first used to study channel proteins in biological cells (in particular the acetylcholine receptor in frog muscle cells). A small pipette is placed on a cell surface while applying slight suction. Currents and capacitances are measured by using two electrodes, one being located in the pipette and the other one in the cell. The patch pipettes have much smaller diameters of order $1-10 \,\mu\text{m}$ (see Fig. 3, right bottom). The obvious advantage of this technique over the Montal–Mueller technique is that one can investigate intact cells without using organic solvents. The interface of the patch pipette and the suction is a source for perturbation [29].

Patch pipettes can also be used to study BLMs [23,24]. The tip of a glass pipette filled with electrolyte solution is placed on a buffer surface. Lipids dissolved in an organic volatile solvent (we use mixtures of hexane and ethanol) are brought into contact with the outer surface of the patch pipette. When the solution runs down the pipette a membrane spontaneously forms at the pipette tip as schematically shown in Fig. 3 (right). After membrane formation as evident in the capacitance measurement slight suction is applied. In this technique no long-chain alkanes are used and one can assume that after some equilibration time the membrane at the pipette tip is practically solvent free (W. Hanke, personal communication). Hanke et al. [24] also describe a variation of this technique called tip-dipping where the membrane patch is generated from dipping the pipette tip into monolayer surfaces.

4. Lipid channels

The evidence for pores (channels) within membrane proteins selectively passing ions rests partially on the observation that the currents through membranes are quantized (Fig. 4a). The fact that the currents are small and correspond to aqueous channels of the





Fig. 4. Comparison of conductance events through biological membranes containing channel proteins, and a pure lipid membrane in its melting regime. a. Recording of the acetylcholine receptor in frog muscle cells from the classical paper of Neher and Sakmann [22] (Ringer solution in the pipette). b. BLM experiment on a DOPC:DPPC membrane in 150 mM KCl, 60 mV in its transition regime at 19 °C. Figure adapted from [97].

dimensions of a few Å suggests that the conduction of ions occurs along objects of molecular dimension. They have been attributed to particular proteins called ion channels. The literature about these proteins is huge (e.g., [30]). It seems therefore surprising that one can find similar quantized current events in pure lipid membranes that do not contain proteins. Fig. 4a shows the historical experiment of Neher and Sackmann [22] on frog muscle cells containing the acetylcholine receptor in the presence of an agonist molecule. Fig. 4b shows the currents through a lipid membrane from a mixture of dioleoyl phosphatidylcholine (DOPC) and dipalmitoyl phosphatidylcholine (DPPC) having a chain melting transition close to the experimental temperature [2]. The melting temperature is important since it has been shown in Section 2 that membranes are most permeable in their melting transition. It is obvious that the two traces display very similar features both regarding amplitude and time scales of the currents. In the following we will characterize the lipid channels in more detail.

4.1. Early experiments

To the best of our knowledge the first channel events recorded in pure lipid membranes are from Yafuso et al. in 1974 [7], two years before the famous paper by Neher and Sakmann on the acetylcholine receptor shown in Fig. 4a. Their experiments on bilayers from oxidized cholesterol are shown in Fig. 5 (left). They found spontaneous conductance changes and multilevel conductance states in this unmodified synthetic lipid film (of somewhat exotic nature). While the lipid system used does not allow to draw conclusion with respect to biological membranes, the experiments quite clearly are a proof-ofprinciple in so-far as they demonstrate that lipid films alone can generate phenomena that are typically attribute to proteins, peptide pores or other additives. The original recording was made with an analogue chart recorder in which the pen position was changed by rotation around an axis. This has been digitally corrected by us (see the original paper for a reference to the raw data). As can be seen in Fig. 5 (left) a change of the voltage leads to an overall larger membrane current the shows quantized steps.

Another important early paper showing this phenomenon is authored by Antonov et al. in 1980 [8]. They showed that one obtains quantized currents through DSPC membranes at 100 mV, which are in the pA regime. As in the paper by Yafuso et al. [7], they found that current traces may display several steps as shown in the current histogram in Fig. 5 (right). In their paper they state: "We suggest that these channels could conduct the transmembrane ionic current in biological membranes without the involvement of peptides and proteins", thus making the first statement indicating that this could be a general phenomenon in biomembranes.

Other authors have found the same phenomenon. Fig. 6 (top) shows results from Yoshikawa et al. [31]. They described quantized current fluctuations through DOPC membranes containing some cholesterol that are of order 1 pA (corresponding to a conductance of 50 pS). The authors found similar results for membranes in BLMs, on patch pipettes and on membranes deposited on filter paper. As other authors, they also discuss the relevance of this finding for the interpretation of currents in biomembranes and suggest that currents attributed to proteins can also arise from lipid membrane fluctuations.

Fig. 6 (bottom) shows quantized membrane currents in a membrane made from POPE:POPC = 7:3 mixture (from [32]). The currents display a similar conductance as in the above experiment. The authors discuss the similarity of the lipid conduction steps with those attributed to proteins channels and state: "This observation demonstrates the need for caution in interpreting conductance changes, which occur following ejection of channel-containing vesicles near a membrane." This refers to the standard reconstitution procedure of generating synthetic membranes containing proteins. In particular, the authors state that currents attributed to proteins could in fact be due to lipid pores.

Kaufmann et al. [33] showed further interesting results on channel appearance in purely synthetic membranes (Fig. 7). Their paper appeared as a booklet (available from the website given in the reference list and from the University Library in Göttingen, Germany) and gives considerable insight into the physics of the pore formation process that goes along the line of argument in Section 5.2.

A nice example for quantized currents through membranes is given in Fig. 8 (left) [2]. At least 4 steps in the current recording through a DOPC:DPPC=2:1 mixture can be seen. Each of them corresponds to a conductance of about 300 pS. The experimental temperature of 19 °C is close to the transition maximum of this lipid mixture. Fig. 8 (right) shows a long trace from a BLM made of a DC₁₅PC:DOPC=95:5 mixture in the phase transition regime (31.5 °C,



Fig. 5. Left: First channel recordings in a lipid membrane made of oxidized cholesterol [7]. The bottom trace indicates the voltage. The dashed lines indicate the voltage changes that give rise to large capacitive currents in the current recording. For constant voltage current fluctuations of the order of 10–20 pA occur. The data were digitally adapted from the original Figure and numerically corrected for the distortions caused by the analogue chart recorder. Right: Quantized currents through synthetic DSPC membranes close to their transition in 1 M KCl at 100 mV [8].



Fig. 6. Top: Current fluctuations in a mixture of DOPC and cholesterol (about 9:1) at 20 mV in 1 M KCI [31]. Bottom: Conductance fluctuations of a membrane made of a POPE:POPC = 7:3 mixture in 150 mM KCI [32].



Fig. 7. Currents through a purely synthetic diphytanoyl phosphatidylcholine membrane (1 M KCl unbuffered, pH ca. 6.5). Left: Currents recorded at 77 mV in different scalings. Right: Current histogram showing several steps. From Kaufmann et al. [33].

1000 mV) [34]. The above experiments show that there is quite a range of possible pore sizes and conductances found for lipid membranes.

We focus here on literature demonstrating quantized current events through lipid membranes. There is additionally a complete literature on reversible electrical breakdowns of artificial membrane conductance at higher voltages [35–37], which are connected to electroporation. We believe, that lipid channel formation and electroporation are related phenomena.

4.2. Dependence of channel formation of the melting transition

As mentioned in Section 2 the overall membrane conductivity is maximum in the transition regime. Consistent with this finding the likelihood of finding lipid channel events is maximum in the lipid melting regime. Below we show three experiments that demonstrate this. Boheim et al. [9] reported quantized current events in a synthetic 1,3-SMPC membrane at the phase transition temperature of about 29 °C (Fig. 9). The discrete conductance steps are not well visible in the figure, but were obvious in the original data trace (Wolfgang Hanke, personal communication). They write: "Apparently, the



Fig. 9. Currents through a 1,3-SMPC membrane with a transition at 29 °C recorded during a temperature scan. At the transition temperature quantized current events were found (not well resolved in the figure but well described in the text). From [9].



Fig. 10. Currents through DPPC membranes with $T_{\rm m}$ around 41 °C. Left: Heat capacity profile of DPPC. Right: Currents through DPPC membranes above (50 °C), close to (43 °C) and below (35 °C) the transition. Only close to the transition quantized currents with discrete steps in the current histogram were seen. From [38].

transition of a bilayer membrane from the liquid–crystalline to the solid state and vice versa is associated with spontaneous fluctuations in membrane conductance." For both DSPC [8] and DPPC [38], Antonov et al. found quantized currents in the phase transition regime while the membrane seemed inert outside of this regime. Fig. 10 (left) shows DPPC membranes above the transition at 50 °C (top), in the melting regime at 43 °C and below the transition at 35 °C. The current fluctuations in the transition are quantized and are of unusual magnitude (nA regime indicating very large pores).

Transitions in single lipid membranes occur over a quite narrow temperature interval of less than one degree which makes it difficult to adjust the experimental temperature accurately. The heat capacity displays very large amplitude at maximum. As shown below (Section 5.5) the permeability is closely related to the heat capacity, and area fluctuations are very large. Thus, in transitions of single lipid membranes they display a tendency to show very large pores and a



Fig. 8. Left: Current fluctuations in a DOPC:DPPC = 2:1 mixture at 19 °C (150 mM KCl, 60 mV). One can resolve at least 4 quantized steps with a current amplitude of about 20 pA corresponding to about to a conductance of about 300 pS. From [2]. Right: Current fluctuations in a DC₁₅PC:DOPC = 95:5 mixture at 31.5 °C (1000 mV), which is the transition regime of this mixture. Quantized currents with an amplitude of 15 pA can be seen. From [34].



Fig. 11. Currents through BLMs of a DOPC:DPPC = 3:1 membrane (from [2]). Left: Heat capacity profile with a maximum at 17 °C. The two dotted lines represent the temperatures at which the currents in the center panel were recorded. Center: Current steps could only be observed at the transition temperature (17 °C, 150 mM KCl, 40 mV) but not in the fluid phase regime at 30 °C. Right: Current histograms. A baseline current was subtracted.

pronounced tendency to rupture. Those black lipid membranes are inherently unstable and break easily.

For the above reason, other authors prefer to work with lipid mixtures. They display broader melting profiles with smaller fluctuations at maximum. These membranes are more stable and due to their wider melting regime not as temperature sensitive. This approach has been taken by [2,39]. They used a DOPC:DPPC = 3:1 mixture (150 mM KCl, 40 mV) that displays a broad melting profile with a maximum around 17 °C. At the heat capacity maximum many discrete current steps of about 30 pA were found (Fig. 11), corresponding to a conductance of \approx 750 pS. Above the melting temperature at 30 °C (in the fluid phase regime) no discrete current steps were seen.

4.3. Specificity of lipid channels

In their seminal paper from 1980, Antonov et al. [8] compared quantized currents through membranes made of the zwitterionic DSPC with those through positively charged membranes of a DSPC analogue in which the P-O⁻ in the head group was replaced by a P-CH₃ rendering the membrane positively charged. They found that the cationic membranes were anion selective while zwitterionic membranes did not display any selectivity for charges (unfortunately, no experimental details were given).

In [38], the same group of authors compared the conductances of membrane pores for different cations. They recorded the single channel currents through DPPC membrane in the presence of LiCl, NaCl, KCl, RbCl and CsCl. In a voltage regime from -80 to +80 mV they found a linear current–voltage relationship from which a conductance g_i can be calculated ($I_i = g_i \cdot U$, where *i* is the index for the ion species). The details of the experiment are given in Fig. 12. The authors found that the value of the conductance decreases in the sequence:

$g_{\mathrm{Li}} > g_{\mathrm{Na}} > g_{\mathrm{K}} > g_{\mathrm{Rb}} > g_{\mathrm{Cs}}.$

Antonov et al. discussed this sequence in connection with kosmotropes (water structure enhancers) and chaotropes (water



Fig. 12. Currents through pores in DPPC membranes close to the chain melting temperature (43 °C). Left: Current traces in the presence of LiCl at different voltages lead to a linear current-voltage relationship. Right: Current-voltage relationships in the presence of LiCl, NaCl, KCl, RbCl and CsCl yield different conductances.

structure breakers) that are closely related to the Hofmeister series. This series involves a ranking of ions in respect to their effect on various materials in electrolytes (e.g., proteins) and is related to the interaction of the ions with water. The Hofmeister series has been discussed in connection with peptide pore conductances [40]. According to [41] the sequence from chaotropic to kosmotropic for the above ions is Li⁺>Cs⁺>Na⁺>K⁺ while it was given as Na⁺>K⁺>Rb⁺>CS⁺ by M. Chaplin¹ consistent with the conductances in the above experiment. It is very likely that such correlations exists, rendering the lipid membrane moderately ion selective.²

5. Theoretical considerations

5.1. Pore models

The remarkable finding in electrophysiological lipid membrane experiments is that ion permeation expresses itself as quantized current events. This all-or-nothing feature is unexpected since one might expect the membrane defects form through stochastic processes that favor broad distributions of pore sizes. The permeability of membranes has been imagined to occur via four mechanisms:

- 1. diffusion of solutes through the hydrophobic core of the membrane
- 2. transport along water files consisting of single H_2O molecules (Fig. 13, left)
- 3. hydrophobic pore formation (Fig. 13, right top) and
- 4. hydrophilic pore formation (Fig. 13, right bottom).

Mechanism 1 was proposed for oil-soluble substances like anesthetics already in the 19th century [42]. However, for ions or polar molecules as water this is an unlikely mechanism considering the very low solubility of such substance in the hydrophobic membrane core. The free energy of a charge in a dielectric medium is proportional to the electrostatic potential $\psi = q/\varepsilon_0 \varepsilon r$ where q is the charge, ε_0 is the vacuum permittivity, ε is the dielectric constant, and rthe distance from the charge. The dielectric constant in water is about 80 while it is 2–4 in the membrane interior. Thus, the electrostatic free energy is different by about a factor of 20–40 between membranes and water. Due to Debye–Hückel ion screening this effect is even larger in the aqueous electrolyte solutions.

Transport mechanism 2 was described by Levitt [43] and Finkelstein [44], see Fig. 13 (left). Finkelstein defines: "By single-file transport of water one means that water molecules within the pore cannot pass or overtake each other." In this context the term "no-pass transport" has been used. Ions would be part of the file and can be transported in sequence with the water molecules. The single file mechanism might explain the quantized nature of currents because there is a minimum size for the water file defined by the dimensions of H_2O and the ions.

Pore formation is the most popular mechanism proposed for membrane transport. Glaser et al. [45] suggested both hydrophobic (mechanism 3, Fig. 13, right top) and hydrophilic pores (mechanism 4, Fig. 13, right bottom). The hydrophobic pore is probably related to the formation of a water file as described in (2) and does not involve any rearrangement of lipids. The hydrophilic pore involves a change in lipid orientation. The elastic free energy of such a pore can be calculated assuming typical values for the elastic constants. Stable pores with a diameter of ~1 nm were suggested. On theoretical grounds it was further proposed that transmembrane voltage can stabilize large pores at high voltage [46]. This might be important in connection with the phenomenon of electroporation [37].

Recent molecular dynamics simulations of membranes exposed to large voltages ($\sim 2 \text{ V}$) suggest that both single file and hydrophilic pore formation can occur. Fig. 14 shows a POPC membrane at two



Fig. 13. Two suggestions for transport across a membrane. Left: Single file transport. Water molecules align in a pore. From Finkelstein [44]. Right: Schematic drawing of a membrane pores. Top: A hydrophobic pore. Bottom: A hydrophilic pore. From Glaser et al. [45].

stages during the simulation after a voltage of ~2 V was applied. In Fig. 14 (left) a single water file formed along which ions could flow. This was called a 'prepore' [47] and occurred after less than 1 ns of simulation time. After ~50 ns a large hydrophilic pore developed along this defect that had a diameter about 1 nm (Fig. 14, right). The chain of events in the simulation is shown in Fig. 15. First, a water file (prepore) forms along which ions can flow. This is consistent with the hydrophobic pore suggested by [45] (Fig. 13, right top). Subsequently, the lipids rearrange and form a hydrophilic pore (Fig. 13, right bottom).

If we assume that this is the likely chain of events then we would conclude that the single file (prepore) defines a minimum size of a conducting event in a membrane. The hydrophilic pore seems to display a stable radius of the order of 0.5 nm. This is consistent with the magnitude of the currents measured in the patch-clamp and the Montal–Mueller techniques. Remarkably, this is also the typical size of the aqueous pores proposed for channel proteins.

Assuming a pore of radius r, Glaser et al. [45] calculated a free energy of pore formation of

$$\Delta F(r) = 2\pi\gamma r + \pi r^2 \left(\sigma + \alpha U^2\right),\tag{1}$$

where γ is the edge tension of the pore, σ the lateral tension and U the voltage. α is a coefficient related to the capacitance of the membrane. The free energy therefore consists of three contributions: the energy of the pore interface, the work that has to be performed against an external tension σ that is proportional to the pore area, and a correction term containing voltage that is also proportional to the pore area. One should assume that the probability of pore formation is related to $\exp(-\Delta F(r)/kT)$ and the conductance of one pore is in a simple manner related to the pore radius *r*.

The above equation does not yet contain a particular theory for the effect of the phase transition, which is obviously of major importance as judged by the experimental data shown in Sections 2 and 4. This will be provided below.

5.2. Entropy, thermodynamic variables and forces

In 1910, Albert Einstein wrote a remarkable paper [48] in which he considered the phenomenon of maximum light scattering of liquid mixing close to a critical point (called "critical opalescence"). This paper contains a deep reflection of the nature of the second law of thermodynamics and is at the basis of all non-equilibrium thermodynamics and fluctuation theory. The second law basically states that the most likely state of a system is most probable. This was without content if one could not extract more information from this law without making assumptions on the molecular detail of a system. Einstein showed in fact that one can make general statements about the nature of fluctuations.

¹ See: http://www1.lsbu.ac.uk/water/hofmeist.html.

² Selectivity is considered here to be a conduction preference expressed in different permeation rates rather than an exclusive all-or-nothing conduction phenomenon.

Fig. 14. Molecular dynamics simulation of a POPC membrane with a transmembrane voltage of 2 V. Left: Hydrophobic prepore in an early stage of the simulation (less than 1 ns). Right: Hydrophilic pore with dimensions of the order of 1 nm after about 50 ns. Adapted from Böckmann et al. [47].

1

p

T Т

մ T

His theory for critical opalescence is similar to the thermodynamic theory of the pore formation process outlined below. The application of this theory for pore formation was already proposed by Nagle and Scott [4] and Kaufmann et al. [33].

Let us consider the entropy S as a function of the extensive thermodynamic variables α (e.g., energy *E*, volume *V*, area *A*, charge *q*, ...) and define the deviations from the equilibrium value $\xi_i = \alpha_i - \alpha_{i,0}$.

$$S = S_0 + \sum_{i} \left(\frac{\partial S}{\partial \xi_i}\right)_0 \xi_i + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{ij} \left(\frac{\partial^2 S}{\partial \xi_i \xi_j}\right)_0 \xi_i \xi_j + \dots$$
(2)

The fact that the entropy is at maximum in an equilibrated system implies that the linear terms $(\partial S/\partial \xi_i)_0$ are zero and thus we can approximate the entropy for small fluctuations by

$$S \approx S_0 + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{ij} \left(\frac{\partial^2 S}{\partial \xi_i \xi_j} \right)_0 \xi_i \xi_j \equiv S_0 - \sum_{ij} g_{ij} \xi_i \xi_j$$
(3)

where $g_{ij} = -0.5(\partial^2 S/\partial \xi_i \xi_j)_0$ are positive constants.

The expansion of the entropy into a quadratic function of the intensive thermodynamic variables is at the basis of the complete discipline of linear non-equilibrium thermodynamics as developed by Onsager [49,50] and Prigogine [51]. The probability to find a particular pair of fluctuations, ξ_i and ξ_i , is given by

$$P(\xi_i,\xi_j) = P_0 \exp\left(\frac{S(\xi_i,\xi_j)}{k}\right) = P_0 \exp\left(-\frac{g_{ij}\xi_i\xi_j}{k}\right)$$
(4)

or for one single fluctuation ξ_i it is given by

$$P(\xi_i) = P_0 \exp\left(-\frac{g_{ii}\xi_i^2}{k}\right) \tag{5}$$

which corresponds to a Gaussian distribution of states with $P_0 = \sqrt{g_{ii}} / \pi k.$



Fig. 15. Schematic drawing of the chain of events in the molecular dynamics simulation of POPC membranes shown in Fig. 14. After the application of a voltage of 2 V across the membrane, first a "prepore" opened that is both consistent with the water file shown in Fig. 13 (left) and the hydrophobic pore in Fig. 13, right top. Subsequently, a hydrophilic pore with a radius of about 0.5 nm formed. From Böckmann et al. [47].

The thermodynamic average of the product of the fluctuations $\xi_i \xi_i$ is given by [52]

$$\langle \xi_i \xi_j \rangle = \int \xi_i \xi_j P(\xi_i, \xi_j) d\xi_1 d\xi_2 d\xi_3 \dots d\xi_n = -\frac{k}{2g_{ij}}$$
(6)

where $\langle ... \rangle$ denotes the statistical mean, which implies

$$\langle \xi_i^2 \rangle = -\frac{k}{2g_{ii}}.\tag{7}$$

This corresponds to the mean square amplitude of the fluctuations or the width of the Gaussian distribution. This implies that the half width of the distribution is related to the curvature of the entropy potential, a fact that we will make use of below in order to derive the relaxation times of fluctuations.

The thermodynamic forces are defined as the derivatives of the entropy with respect to the extensive variable.

$$X_i = \frac{\partial S}{\partial \xi_i} = -\sum_j g_{ij} \xi_j.$$
(8)

This is completely in analogy to the definition of forces in classical mechanics (as the derivative of a potential) but more general since it includes extensive variable as the energy and charge, but also the particle numbers. Further, the potential under consideration here is the entropy.

Some of the thermodynamics forces are

$$\frac{1}{T}$$
with the conjugated variable E (internal energy) $\frac{p}{T}$ with the conjugated variable V (volume) $\frac{\Pi}{T}$ with the conjugated variable A (area) $\frac{\psi}{T}$ with the conjugated variable q (charge) $\frac{\mu_j}{T}$ with the conjugated variable n_j (particle number)

where T is the temperature, p is the pressure, Π is the lateral pressure, ψ is the electrostatic potential, and μ_i is the chemical potential of species j [51,52]. E, V, A, q and n_i correspond to the fluctuating variables ξ_i of the membrane (Fig. 16).

The above implies that

$$\langle \xi_i^2 \rangle = -k \left(\frac{\partial X_i}{\partial \xi_i} \right)^{-1} = k g_{ii}^{-1} \tag{10}$$

meaning that the fluctuations are related both to the curvature of the entropy potential, and to the change of the forces upon the change of a variable. Eq. (10) has been strictly derived in [52].







Fig. 16. The entropy as a harmonic potential and the corresponding fluctuations of the variable ξ that could be internal energy, volume, area etc. The slope of the potential at ξ is the thermodynamic force, while the curvature of the potential at ξ_0 is proportional to the corresponding susceptibility (cf. Eqs. (7), (10) and (12)).

5.3. Susceptibilities

The susceptibilities or response functions are functions like the heat capacity, the compressibility or the capacitance. They are given by the derivative of an extensive variable with respect to an intensive variable. e.g., the heat capacity at constant volume is given by

$$c_V = \left(\frac{\partial Q}{\partial T}\right)_V = \left(\frac{\partial E}{\partial T}\right)_V.$$
(11)

Now, $\xi_E \equiv E - \langle E \rangle$ is one of the quantities that can fluctuate, while $\partial T = -T^2 \partial (1/T)$ is related to the conjugated thermodynamic force, $X_E = 1/T$. In particular,

$$c_V = -\frac{1}{T^2} \left(\frac{\partial \xi_E}{\partial X_E} \right)_V = -\frac{1}{T^2} \left(\frac{\partial X_E}{\partial \xi_E} \right)_V^{-1} \stackrel{\text{Eq. (10)}}{=} + \frac{\langle \xi_E^2 \rangle}{kT^2}.$$
(12)

Another way of writing this is

$$c_V = \frac{\langle E^2 \rangle - \langle E \rangle^2}{kT^2}.$$
 (13)

This implies that the heat capacity is proportional to the fluctuations in internal energy. This relationship could also be derived in a simpler manner by just differentiating the statistical mean of the internal energy that is given by $E = \sum_i E_i \exp(-E_i / kT) / \sum_i \exp(-E_i / kT)$. Thus, the fluctuation relations would be strictly true even if the assumption of a harmonic entropy potential is not made. Similar relations can be written for the heat capacity at constant pressure

$$c_p = \frac{\langle H^2 \rangle - \langle H \rangle^2}{kT^2} \tag{14}$$

the isothermal volume compressibility

$$\kappa_T^V = -\frac{1}{V} \left(\frac{\partial V}{\partial p}\right)_T = \frac{\langle V^2 \rangle - \langle V \rangle^2}{V kT}$$
(15)

and the isothermal area compressibility

$$\kappa_T^A = -\frac{1}{A} \left(\frac{\partial A}{\partial \Pi} \right)_T = \frac{\langle A^2 \rangle - \langle A \rangle^2}{AkT}$$
(16)

Eqs. (13)–(16) are linked to the fluctuation theory (see, e.g., [52]). The principal underlying idea is that small forces generated by thermal motion generate local fluctuations in the extensive variables. The coupling of the susceptibilities to the fluctuations is important and will play a crucial role below.

5.4. Coupling of compressibilities with the heat capacity

It has been argued by [53,54] that for transitions in membranes one finds that

$$\Delta V(T) = \gamma_V \cdot \Delta H(T) \tag{17}$$

where $\Delta V(T)$ is the temperature dependent volume change in the transition regime, and $\Delta H(T)$ is the corresponding change in enthalpy. This means that volume and enthalpy change in a proportional manner with a proportional constant $\gamma_V = 7.8 \cdot 10^{-10} \text{ m}^3/\text{J}$ for many lipid systems including biological membranes [54]. More indirectly, it has been argued that a similar relation is also true for area changes in melting transitions of membranes:

$$\Delta A(T) = \gamma_A \cdot \Delta H(T) \tag{18}$$

with $\gamma_A = 0.89 \text{ m}^2/\text{J}$ [53]. The two above relations together with Eqs. (15) and (16) imply that the fluctuations in enthalpy are proportional to the fluctuations in volume or area (i.e., enthalpy, volume and area are no independent variables), and we obtain:

$$\Delta \kappa_T^V = \frac{\gamma_V^2 T}{V} \Delta c_p \quad \text{and} \quad \Delta \kappa_T^A = \frac{\gamma_A^2 T}{A} \Delta c_p. \tag{19}$$

This means that both volume and area compressibility are proportional to the heat capacity changes in membrane transitions. In particular it implies that membranes are very soft in their transitions. This change in compressibility can easily be 10-fold at the transition maximum. This has profound consequences for the pore formation process.

5.5. Permeability

A couple of authors have discussed area fluctuations as the origin of membrane pores (or lipid ion channels), e.g. [2,3,6,55,56] but in particular Nagle and Scott [4] and Kaufmann et al. [33] (much of the line of argument in Sections 5.2 and 5.3 was given in the latter reference and applied to membrane pores).

There are in particular two views:

- In the transition one finds phase coexistence and the likelihood of finding a membrane pore is at maximum at the domain boundary. Therefore, the permeability is proportional to the length of the domain interfaces. This view has been taken by Papahadjopoulos et al. [3] and Mouritsen et al. [55,57].
- 2. The work necessary to create a pore is proportional to the lateral compressibility of the overall membrane [2,4,56].

These two views are conceptually similar but not identical. Clearly, the domains occur in temperature regimes with larger area fluctuations. More precisely, the fluctuations in domain sizes are responsible for both the large heat capacity and the large compressibility. Domain sizes in lipid transitions depend on the cooperativity of the melting process. In computer simulations, cooperativity is usually modeled by an unlike nearest neighbor interaction that is effectively a free energy penalty for the creation of a domain interface. For this reason, more cooperative transitions with narrower and more pronounced heat capacity peaks display larger domains at the melting temperature (50% of the lipid matrix is in a liquid state) and consequently a smaller overall domain interface than less cooperative transitions. Thus, large fluctuations imply that domains are large and that the total domain interface is smaller. The data shown, e.g., in Fig. 2 (right) indicate, however, that the permeability is about proportional to the heat capacity. This favors the second view. The discrepancy between the two views would disappear if one would not consider domain interface as one-dimensional lines but rather as narrow areas of large fluctuations. However, under these circumstances, one would have to take both length and thickness of the interfacial region into account. For these reasons we follow the argument that the overall fluctuations are responsible for the increase in permeability. Domain interfaces are discussed again in Section 8.1 and it is shown that the fluctuations within different domains may also be different.

Nagle and Scott [4] calculated the free energy (the work) necessary for the formation of a pore of area ΔA in a membrane with total area to be

$$\Delta F = \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{\kappa_T^A A} (\Delta A)^2 \tag{20}$$

with the lateral compressibility κ_T^A of the membrane. This corresponds to Hooke's law for a mechanical spring. The likelihood to find a pore of size ΔA is given by

$$P(\Delta A) = P_0 \exp\left(-\frac{\Delta F}{kT}\right) \tag{21}$$

which implies that the likelihood for a pore is the same when $(\Delta A)^2/\kappa_T^A$ is the same. This means one finds pores of twice the area if the compressibility is four times larger, or that the likely pore size scales with

$$(\Delta A)^2 \propto \kappa_T^A. \tag{22}$$

As a next step it was assumed that the permeability *P* of the membrane is related to the size of the defects such that one can make a series expansion of the permeability as a function of the pore area ΔA :

$$P = P_0 + C_1 \Delta A + C_2 (\Delta A)^2 + \dots$$
 (23)

where P_0 is the permeability of the pure phase in the absence of fluctuations. In the transition one expects fluctuations ΔA that are both positive and negative and the linear term is neglected, yielding

$$P = P_0 + C_2(\Delta A)^2 = P_0 + C_2' \kappa_T^A$$
(24)

after inserting Eq. (22) into Eq. (23). This equation reflects that one expects larger pore areas ΔA or a larger number of pores if the compressibility is higher. Nagle and Scott [4] argued that one obtains the same law if one takes a distribution of pore sizes into account.

In Eq. (19) we have derived that for lipid membranes in transitions the compressibility changes are proportional to the excess heat capacity. Therefore, we finally obtain for the permeability *P*:

$$P = P_0 + \alpha \Delta c_P \tag{25}$$

where α is a constant. To summarize, one expects that the mean pore size and the pore number is larger when the compressibility is higher.

This leads to a higher permeability. For the above calculation, it does not make a difference if a pore has twice the area or if one simultaneously finds two pores. Obviously, in the above derivation the free energy of the interface between pore wall in water has been neglected. This can only be justified by experiment. The data in Fig. 2 (right) which yield a satisfactory proportionality between heat capacity and permeability suggest that in fact the free energy of a pore is dominated by the area work as assumed in Eqs. (24) and (25). This neglects the edge term of the pore which was contained in Eq. (1). The effect of voltage, that was heuristically included in Eq. (1) is also not considered here because a satisfying description of the effect of voltage on the melting transition is yet missing, even though experimental evidence suggests that this effect must be significant (see also Section 6.4).

6. Influence of changes of variables on the lipid channels

From the above derivations it is clear the changes in all intensive variables should have a predictable influence on the permeability when their effect on the melting transition is known. This section shows the effects of the variables listed in Eq. (9), including temperature, hydrostatic pressure, lateral pressure, electrostatic potential (voltage) and the chemical potentials (e.g., protein, proton or calcium concentrations). In this paragraph it will be shown that all of these dependencies exist. This is especially so if the lipid membrane is close to a melting transition (or any other kind of transition). It was shown by [16] (findings are also reviewed in [13]) that biomembranes are in fact often found close to a melting transition in their membranes under physiological conditions (typically about 10-15 °C above the heat capacity maximum of a relatively broad transition). Therefore, any variable that potentially changes the transition will display an influence on the occurrence of lipid ion channel events. That this is in fact the case is shown below for a number of thermodynamic variables.

6.1. Temperature

The previous section justified why the formation of lipid channels is most likely in the melting transition of lipid membranes. This implies that temperature must be an important variable. Let us consider the following very simple mass action scheme for a transition at constant pressure

$$K = \frac{[F]}{[G]} = \exp\left(-\frac{\Delta G}{RT}\right) = \exp\left(-\frac{\Delta H - T\Delta S}{RT}\right)$$
(26)

where [*F*] is the concentration (or fraction) of fluid lipids and [*G*] is the concentration of gel lipids, respectively. In the following we will assume that the state of the membrane and its heat capacity depends on ΔG , which here and in the following stands for the difference in the chemical potential at standard state. For ΔG >0 we find a larger fraction of gel phase, while for ΔG <0 the membrane is mostly in its fluid phase. The melting temperature, $T_{\rm m}$, shall be defined as the temperature where [G] = [F], or K = 1 and

$$\Delta H - T_{\rm m} \Delta S = \mathbf{0} \to \Delta S = \frac{\Delta H}{T_{\rm m}} \to \Delta G = \Delta H \left(\frac{T_{\rm m} - T}{T_{\rm m}} \right). \tag{27}$$

Thus, obviously a change in temperature will lead to a change of the free energy difference between gel and fluid phase. Since at the melting point, $T_{\rm m}$, ΔG is zero, the fluctuations are maximum because the free energy necessary to move the system from one state into the other one is zero, and thermal noise is sufficient to do so. Therefore, the likelihood to form pores and the permeability must be strongly influenced by temperature. This was shown for the macroscopic

permeability experiments in Section 2 [2,3,5,6] and for the lipid channel formation in Section 4.2 [2,38].

The effect of temperature could be considered a 'thermosensitivity' of channel formation in pure lipid membranes.

6.2. Pressure and lateral tension

In the following, we will express the state of the system by the Gibbs free energy difference between fluid and gel state. We will show that it depends not only on temperature but also on all the other intensive thermodynamic variables.

The enthalpy is a function of pressure: H = E + pV. If ΔH_0 is the enthalpy difference between fluid and gel phase at a pressure of 1 bar, ΔV the respective volume difference, and Δp the pressure difference with respect to 1 bar, we obtain

$$T_{\rm m}(\Delta p) = \frac{\Delta H}{\Delta S} = \frac{\Delta H_0 + \Delta p \Delta V}{\Delta S} = \frac{\Delta H_0(1 + \gamma_V \Delta p)}{\Delta S} = T_{\rm m}(1 + \gamma_V \Delta p)$$
(28)

or

$$\Delta T_{\rm m}(\Delta p) = \gamma_V T_{\rm m} \Delta p \tag{29}$$

where $\gamma_V = 7.8 \cdot 10^{-19} \text{ m}^3/\text{J}$ is the parameter introduced in Eq. (17). Similarly, the shift of the melting transition by lateral pressure (or tension) is

$$\Delta T_{\rm m}(\Delta \Pi) = \gamma_A T_{\rm m} \Delta \Pi \tag{30}$$

with $\gamma_A = 0.89 \text{ m}^2/\text{J}$ (see Eq. (18)). It has been shown by Kaufmann et al. [33] that the application of suction on a patch pipette can generate channel events. Suction changes the lateral tension/pressure of the lipid membrane and thus has an influence on the state of the lipid membrane. Fig. 17 shows suction-induced channel formation in soybean phosphatidylcholine in 1 M NaCl at 500 mV.

The influence of pressure on channel appearance could be called a 'mechano-sensitivity' of channel formation in pure lipid membranes.

6.3. Anesthetics, neurotransmitters and other drugs

Anesthetics lower the melting temperature due to a very simple effect called melting point depression [58]. The change $\Delta T_{m,x_A}$ is described by

$$\Delta T_{\mathbf{m}x_{A}} = -\frac{RT_{\mathbf{m}}^{2}}{\Delta H}x_{A} \tag{31}$$

where x_A is the molar fraction of anesthetics dissolved in the membrane, ΔH is the melting enthalpy of the membrane, and $T_{\rm m}$ is the melting temperature. To arrive at this law one has to assume that the anesthetics molecules dissolve ideally in the fluid lipid membrane, while they are insoluble in the gel membrane. The success of Eq. (31) in describing the effect of anesthetics on melting transition [58] does not only justifies this assumption but also explains the famous Meyer–Overton rule that states that the effectiveness of an anesthetic is proportional to its solubility in oil (the membrane core), independent of its chemical composition [59–61].

Fig. 18 shows the effect of the anesthetic octanol on membranes made of a DOPC–DPPC mixture. In the absence of octanol, the experiment is performed at the heat capacity maximum where many channel events can be found. Increasing amounts of octanol shift the transition maximum towards lower temperatures and thereby lower the heat capacity at the experimental temperature. As a consequence, the frequency and amplitude of the current events decreases until channel events completely disappear. This effect is also discussed in detail in [2,56]. If the membrane is investigated at a temperature below that transition, anesthetics can drastically increase the membrane permeability because they move the membrane into the transition regime [2].

Sabra et al. [5] showed that the macroscopic permeability of DMPC membranes for Co^{2+} was altered by the insecticide lindane in agreement with the influence of the drug on the heat capacity profile. Other drugs as neurotransmitters also have the potential to shift melting transitions and to alter the fluctuations in membranes. This was for example shown for serotonine [62] that has a quite significant influence on melting profiles. Thus, neurotransmitters also should display the potential to influence lipid channel events considerably. Moreover, every drug that alters the melting behavior of a membrane can change the appearance of lipid channels. This includes proteins and peptides that can alter lipid channel behavior without being channels themselves, as discussed in Section 8.2.

The possibility to "block" or induce lipid channel events in proteinfree membranes by drugs could be considered as an agonist or antagonist effect, or "channel-gating". It does not require specific binding to any macromolecule but rather represents an unspecific physicochemical process.

6.4. Voltage, pH and calcium

About 10% of the lipids in most biomembranes carry negative charges in their head groups. Charged membranes display an electrostatic potential that depends on the charge density. At typical conditions of biological membranes, i.e., low charge density (10% of the lipids) and high ionic strength (\approx 150 mM) the electrostatic surface potential of a membrane ψ_0 can be approximated by the low potential approximation of Gouy-Chapman theory that is given by

$$\psi_0 = \frac{1}{\epsilon \epsilon_0 \kappa} \sigma \propto \frac{\sigma}{\sqrt{c}} \tag{32}$$

where ϵ_0 is the vacuum permittivity, ε is the dielectric constant of water (\approx 80) and $\sigma = q/A$ is the charge density. κ is the Debye





constant that is proportional to \sqrt{c} with *c* being the ionic strength. Consequently, the larger the ionic strength and the smaller the surface charge density, the smaller the surface potential. From this the electrostatic free energy can be calculated:

$$F_{\rm el} = \int_{\sigma'}^{\sigma} \psi_0 dq \propto \frac{q^2}{A\sqrt{c}} \tag{33}$$

i.e., the potential is quadratic in the total surface charge and inversely proportional to the membrane area. Since biological membranes are asymmetrically charged (typically with most negative lipids being on the cytosolic side of the cell membrane [63,64]) one expects a transmembrane voltage of order 50 mV [65]. The molecular area of the gel state of a lipid membrane is about 25% smaller than that of a fluid lipid [53]. This implies that the electrostatic free energy of a gel membrane is larger than that of a fluid lipid membrane because the charge density is larger in the gel state. The decrease of the electrostatic free energy contribution upon membrane melting, $\Delta F_{el,L}$ leads to a lowering of the phase transition temperature by

$$\Delta T_{\rm m,el} = \frac{\Delta F_{\rm el,L}}{\Delta S} \tag{34}$$

where $\Delta F_{el,L} < 0$ is the electrostatic free energy difference between fluid and gel lipids. The mathematical expression for $\Delta F_{el,L}$ (not given here) has been derived in [66] and been reviewed in [13]. The above equation implies that the change in lipid state from gel to fluid will lower the free energy of the membrane because the membrane area increases and the potential decreases. Further, by reversing the argument it is obvious that application of voltage across a membrane must change the lipid state. In particular, charged and uncharged membranes should respond differently to voltage. Since negative lipid head groups can be protonated upon lowering the pH, the membrane state must be pH dependent.

6.4.1. Voltage

The above argument showed that the lipid state should depend on transmembrane voltage. An indication for this is shown in Fig. 19 that displays the transmembrane currents as a function of voltage, and the corresponding current–voltage relationship of the channels. It can be seen that the I–V curve is linear in a regime from about -150 to +150 mV (i.e., conductance is constant), while the I–V relation

becomes non-linear at $|V_m| > 150 \text{ mV}$. That voltage can reversibly induce channel events was reported by [33]. Antonov et al. [67] showed that voltage increases the melting transition in charged lipid membranes without significantly altering the transition temperature of zwitterionic lipids. However, in our daily lab routing we reproducibly find that zwitterionic membranes not displaying channels at low voltage show such events upon increasing the voltage (in agreement with Eq. (1)). Therefore, we assume that voltage also has an effect on zwitterionic membranes. We further suspect that lipid ion channel formation is closely linked to the phenomenon of electroporation (cf. [37]). It should be added zwitterionic membranes are piezoelectric due to the electrical dipoles of their head groups [68]. This was also shown in monolayer experiments demonstrating different dipole potentials in the gel and the fluid phases of the membranes and an effect of voltage on the lipid state [69].

The influence of voltage could be called 'voltage-sensitivity' or 'voltage-gating'.

6.4.2. Protons and pH

Let us consider a membrane that is negatively charged at neutral pH. Upon lowering the pH the phosphate groups will be protonated. This case has been treated in much detail by Träuble et al. [66]. They provided the electrostatic theory briefly outlined above and showed how the melting temperature depends on pH and ionic strength. Upon complete protonation the transition midpoints increases by 10–20 °C. This is shown in Fig. 20 for dimyristoyl methylphosphatidic acid (DMMPA) membranes [66]. This is shown in Fig. 20. Similarly, zwitterionic lipids may become positively charged at low pH values around 1–2. Their transition midpoint will decrease due to the electrostatic contribution of the lipid charges. From this it must be concluded that the occurrence of lipid ion channels should be pH-sensitive. This has in fact been shown by Kaufmann and Silman [10], see Fig. 21. They found that channels can be induced by protons in the pH regime around 1 that is close to the pK_A of the zwitterionic soybean phosphatidylcholine membrane.

6.4.3. Calcium

Due to its two positive charges, calcium also displays a pronounced effect on lipid membranes. It binds to both, negatively charged and somewhat weaker to zwitterionic membranes. This is likely to be associated with the electrostatics of the membranes. The two calcium charges probably cross-link the phosphate groups of



Fig. 18. Effect of the anesthetic octanol on the melting transition of a DOPC-DPPC = 2:1 mixture in 150 mM KCl at 19 °C. Left: Heat capacity profiles in the presence of increasing quantities of octanol demonstrate the shift of the transition caused by the anesthetic drug. The vertical dashed line indicates the experimental temperature. Center: Membrane current recorded at 210 mV demonstrates that octanol both decreases the frequency of current events and the amplitude until currents are completely 'blocked'. Right: Current histograms of the center traces.



Fig. 19. Currents through a membrane made of DOPC:DPPC = 2:1 mixture at 19 °C and 150 mM KCl recorded at different voltages. One finds a linear current–voltage relationship for $|V_m| < 150$ mV that becomes non-linear at higher voltages indicating that the voltage alters the state of the membrane. From [56].

two adjacent lipids. Typically, calcium increases melting temperatures. Depending on state of the membrane (e.g., whether found below or above a transition) calcium may therefore induce or inhibit lipid ion channels. This is shown in Fig. 22. Gögelein and Koepsell [70] showed that channel events in brain phosphatidylserine can be "blocked" or inhibited by calcium (Fig. 22, left), while Antonov et al. [12] showed the reverse effect for DPPC membranes above the transition (Fig. 22, right). The effect of calcium corresponds to a 'calcium-control' or 'calcium-gating' of the lipid channels. As for the case of drugs, no specific binding site at a particular macromolecule is involved. One should bear in mind that both pH and calcium effects are related to the surface potential and thus to the voltage effects. This includes the adaptation of lipid composition reported for many bacteria under various temperature, pressure or solvent conditions (see below).

6.5. Other variables

Everything that potentially changes the state of the lipid membrane will display the potential to generate or inhibit lipid ion channels. We just list a few of these:

- membrane curvature, because one of the work terms in the internal energy differential is related to curvature, and curvature has an influence on the membrane phase behavior [71].
- dipolar interactions, because the work to orient a dipole (e.g., the lipid head group) in a field is part of the differential of the internal energy. It has been shown that electrostatic fields can alter the phase behavior of zwitterionic monolayers [69].
- hydrolysis of membranes by enzymes, because hydrolysis products change the phase behavior of the membranes [72]. Any change in membrane composition may have a similar effect.
- membrane proteins. This case is discussed in Section 8.2.
- ...

6.6. Free energy of channel formation

Let us consider a membrane in a particular state that is not within the melting transition. This membrane displays a very small likelihood to display lipid ion channels. In order to increase the channel probability, the membrane has to be brought into the chain melting regime, which can be done be altering the various parameters described above. Heimburg and Jackson [58] showed that the free energy that is necessary to bring the membrane into a regime where channels occur (i.e., the free energy difference between the fluid and the gel phase) is given by:

$$\Delta G(T, x_A, \Delta p, ...) = \Delta H \left(\underbrace{\frac{T_m - T}{T_m}}_{\text{temperature}} - \underbrace{\frac{RT}{\Delta H} x_A}_{\text{anesthetics}} + \underbrace{\gamma_V \Delta p \frac{T}{T_m}}_{\text{pressure}} + ... \right) (35)$$

For each of the thermodynamic variables, there is one term influencing the free energy difference. The influence of other variables as are pH, calcium concentration, curvature, etc., is not shown in this equation. Eq. (35) indicates that the free energy required for the channel formation is directly related to the free energy required to move the transition into its melting regime. Further, for a given value of the free energy difference the likelihood of channel formation is constant, but the values of the individual variables can change. The effect of anesthetics can be compensated by hydrostatic pressure, pH, or temperature change. These effects have been documented for

experiment: 200 mM 45 20 mM 2 mM0.2 mM D° 40 Lⁿ 35 30 2 4 6 8 10 0 pН

Fig. 20. Effect of charge on the transition temperature of dimyristoyl methylphosphatidic acid membranes as a function of pH for four different ionic strengths (adapted from [66]). The transition midpoint changes by about 14 K towards higher temperature upon protonation of the membrane. The pK_A of the membrane is at higher pH values when the salt concentration is lower.



Fig. 21. Transmembrane currents through soybean phosphatidylcholine membranes in an unbuffered medium with 1 M KCl. Traces are shown with different proton concentrations (pH range from 6.5 (trace a) to 1 (traces f and g)) at different positive and negative voltages. Transmembrane currents are induced at low pH close to the pK_A of the membrane. From [10].

anesthesia [58,73,74] yielding the well-known effects of pressurereversal of anesthesia and the impossibility to anesthetize inflamed tissue with normal anesthetic doses.

7. Channel lifetimes

It has been found in many experiments that relaxation time scales are closely coupled to the melting process in membrane [62,75–81]. The fluctuation–dissipation theorem reveals a fundamental coupling between the magnitude of fluctuations (expressed in heat capacity, compressibilities, capacitance, ...) and the relaxation time scales (indicating how fast a system relaxes to equilibrium after a perturbation), which are identical to the fluctuation time scales. Since we consider here the lipid channel formation process basically as the consequence of a local fluctuation in state, it is obvious that open and closed life times of a channel must be intimately related to the fluctuation time scale. Basically, the fluctuation–dissipation theorem states that at regimes of high compressibility and high heat capacity, fluctuations are slow. Thus, channel life times are expected to be long in the phase transition regime when their likelihood of formation is large.

7.1. Theoretical considerations

We now return to the theoretical treatment of fluctuations given in Sections 5.2 and 5.3. On the basis of this description the fluctuation life times of membranes can be obtained [62,81]. Lars Onsager [49] treated time dependent phenomena such that he assumed a proportional relation between fluxes (rates of change of a variable) with the thermodynamic forces, an assumption corresponding to the equation of motion in viscous fluids where the influence of inertia is small. Following this approach, the flux of heat (enthalpy) of the membrane after a perturbation back to equilibrium (which could consist of the thermal collisions related to Brownian motion) is given by

$$\frac{d\xi_H}{dt} = L \cdot X_H \tag{36}$$

where X_H is the thermodynamic force related to enthalpy differences (cf. Section 5.2), given by $\partial S/\partial H$ with the thermodynamic variable $\xi_H = H - \langle H \rangle$. *L* is a material constant that we assume to be temperature independent. This equation is a simple version of



Fig. 22. Influence of calcium on the occurrence of lipid channels. Left: Currents through bovine brain phosphatidylserine: cholesterol = 2:1 (w/w) membranes in 200 mM cyclamate and pH 7.4. Addition of 8 mM CaCl₂ inhibited the currents. From [70]. Right: Generation of quantized currents in DPPC membranes by calcium at *T* = 64 °C (the melting temperature of DPPC is 41 °C). From [12].

Onsager's phenomenological equations if only one independent thermodynamic variable is present.

$$X_{H} = \frac{\partial S}{\partial H} = -g_{HH} \cdot (H - \langle H \rangle)$$
(37)

According to Eqs. (10), (12) and (13),

$$c_p = \frac{\langle H^2 \rangle - \langle H \rangle^2}{kT^2} = \frac{1}{T^2 g_{HH}} \quad \text{or} \quad g_{HH} = \frac{1}{T^2 c_p}.$$
(38)

This leads to

$$\frac{d(H-\langle H\rangle)}{dt} = -\frac{L}{T^2 c_p} (H-\langle H\rangle)$$
(39)

with the solution

$$(H - \langle H \rangle)(t) = (H - \langle H \rangle)_0 \cdot \exp\left(-\frac{L}{T^2 c_p}t\right) \equiv (H - H)_0 \cdot \exp\left(-\frac{t}{\tau}\right) \quad (40)$$

introducing the relaxation time

$$\tau = \frac{T^2 c_p}{L}.\tag{41}$$

This equation implies that the relaxation (or fluctuation) time scale is large when the heat capacity is high. If we consider the channel formation as a fluctuation, we have to conclude that the typical time scale of channel opening and closing is proportional to the heat capacity. In particular, in the transition where the likelihood of lipid ion channel formation is high, they should also display long open times.

It has been found that for pure lipid membranes the phenomenological coefficient *L* is of order $6-20 \cdot 10^8$ J K/mol s. For a DMPC multilayer one finds a relaxation time of about 30 s at the maximum. Transitions in biological membranes are much broader and the heat capacity maximum displays much smaller values. Assuming the same phenomenological coefficient as for DMPC membranes, one estimates about 100 ms at the c_p maximum of bovine lung surfactant or *E. coli* membranes. Since biological membranes display a c_p maximum some degrees below the body temperature, the expected open times at physiological temperature is expected to be of the order of a few milliseconds. Interestingly, this time scale is just of the same order as the dwell times of quantized current events in Section 4.

Summarizing: While the channel open times in artificial membranes at the c_p maximum may be very long (of order seconds), they are expected to be of millisecond order for biomembranes at physiological

temperature. This time scale, expected for lipid channels, is interestingly also exactly that found for protein channels. This is unlikely to be accidental.

7.2. Experiments

It has been shown by [34] that channel life times are in fact much longer in the transition of a lipid mixture that displays a transition half width comparable to that of biomembranes. This is shown in Fig. 23. Both heat capacity profile and mean conductance of a lipid mixture of DC₁₅PC and DOPC (95:5) display maxima at about 30 °C (Fig. 23, left). The typical open time of the lipid channels is of order 20 ms, while it is rather 3 ms above the transition. If one compares the time scales of the current fluctuations in the phase transition regime and in the fluid phase one finds that they are about one order of magnitude different (Fig. 23, right), in approximate agreement with the above calculation (Eq. (41)). The timescale in the fluid phase follows a single-exponential decay while in the transition it can only be approximated by a double-exponential function. Gallaher et al. [82] provided an analysis showing that the current fluctuation time scales in the transition regime obey a power law rather than single-exponential behavior as suggested by the derivation above. The authors rationalized this by assuming that the conduction pores may exist in different states with different gel-fluid environments. Figs. 13 and 14 also suggest that there might be more than one possible pore geometry with similar pore dimension.

Summarizing, it seems as if one can understand the time scale of lipid ion channel opening and closing with simple non-equilibrium thermodynamics (fluctuation–dissipation). This means that heat capacity, phase behavior and time scales are different aspects of the same physics. Whenever heat capacities and permeabilities are high, time scales are larger. However, while the overall change in time scales is consistent with the above derivation, multi-exponential or power law behavior is not contained and requires more sophisticated analysis.

Heat capacity profiles can be influenced by anesthetics, neurotransmitters and by membrane peptides. Interestingly, it has been shown by [62] that those c_p changes are accompanied by equivalent changes in the relaxation time scales, such that those molecules cause a predictable change of the relaxation time scales. The role of proteins is outlined in more detail in the following section.

8. Interfaces: domains and proteins

Fluctuations are large in regions where the free energy of gel and fluid lipids are similar. Therefore, they are maximum at the melting



Fig. 23. Left: Relative conductance of a DC₁₅PC–DOPC (95/5) mixture as a function of temperature at $V_m = 90$ mV. The insert shows the melting profile of the lipid mixture. Adapted from [34]. Right: Logarithmic plot of the timescales of the current fluctuation in the fluid phase (circles) and the phase transition regime (triangles). The average lifetimes center around 3 ms in the fluid and 20 ms in the phase transition, which is in good agreement with our theoretical prediction. From [34].



Fig. 24. Left: Confocal microscopy image of a DLPC–DPPC (1:2) mixture in its melting regime at 27 °C. Dark regions represent gel domains, bright regions are fluid [98]. Center: Snapshot of a Monte Carlo simulation of a DMPC–DSPC (1:1) mixture in the melting regime (36.9 °C). Dark shades correspond to gel domains while bright shades represent fluid domains. Right: Local fluctuations of the same matrix. Bright shades correspond to large fluctuations while dark shades correspond to small fluctuations. The magnitude of the fluctuations is related to the membrane permeability and the likelihood of lipid channel formation. For the example shown, fluctuations are larger in the fluid regions than in the gel regions, but are maximum at the interface between the domains. These regions are those of maximum permeability. From [89].

transition. As shown above, many variables can be adjusted (pressure, temperature, ...) such that the membrane system is situated in this regime. However — such fluctuations must not be the same everywhere in the membrane if the membrane is heterogenous. Biological membranes are complex mixtures of lipids with different melting points and different hydrophobic lengths, and many other molecules including cholesterol and proteins. These membranes display phase separation and domain formation phenomena. Therefore, one must expect that also the fluctuations display different magnitude in different membrane regions. It is especially interesting to consider interfaces between fluid and gel domains.

The magnitude of fluctuations depends on the length scale over which they are monitored. One can consider fluctuations of the whole membrane, which enter into the heat capacity or the macroscopic compressibility. If one considers the fluctuations in windows of smaller size, e.g. on the length scale of individual domains or on molecular scale, one obtains local heat capacities and compressibilities. There are different ways of probing the local fluctuations, e.g.,

- experimentally: one can investigate the softness of a membrane by AFM. One obtains the compressibility on the length scale of an AFMtip (around 10 nm). This has been done for peptide containing membranes in [83].
- theoretically by simulations: in Monte Carlo simulation, one can directly obtain the fluctuation on arbitrary scales. Such simulations typically use experimental observables such as melting enthalpy



Fig. 25. Influence of proteins on the melting behavior of lipid membranes at various protein/lipid (P/L) ratios. Left: Cytochrome b_5 lowers the melting point (from [13] adapted from [99]). Right: Band 3 protein of erythrocytes increases the melting point (from [13] adapted from [100]).

and entropy, and the shape of the melting profile in order to determine the simulation parameters (e.g., [84–88]). In principle, such information is also contained in molecular dynamics (MD) simulations. However, to our knowledge MD has not been used yet to obtain such information.

8.1. Domain interfaces

In Fig. 24 domain formation of lipid mixtures is shown. Confocal microscopy images of large unilamellar vesicles display domains of gel and fluid state (Fig. 24, left). Such domain formation can be described by lattice Monte Carlo simulations (Fig. 24, center). Details are, e.g., given in [89]. For the purpose of this review only the results are important. The fluctuations of single sites in this matrix (local fluctuations) are shown in Fig. 24 (right). It is found that under the conditions indicated in the figure legend the gel domains. The largest fluctuations, however, are seen at the domain interface. Thus, while the domain interfaces are the regions of largest permeability, also the domains themselves contribute to permeation (in Fig. 24 (right) especially the fluid domains). This sheds further light on the two



Fig. 26. Simulation of the antibiotic peptide gramicidin A in a DPPC membrane. Left: Gramicidin A is very short as compared to the gel lipids of DPPC and displays an unfavorable hydrophobic matching. Center: Monte Carlo snapshot of a simulation of gramicidin A in a DPPC membrane. Slightly below the melting transition one finds the membrane mostly in the gel state (gel lipids – dark grey) with some remaining fluid domains present (fluid lipids – light grey). Due to the unfavorable hydrophobic matching, the proteins aggregate in the gel phase into clusters (black dots – gramicidin molecules). Right: For the same snapshot the magnitude of the fluctuations is shown locally. Dark grey shades correspond to small fluctuations while bright shades represent large fluctuations with a high likelihood of pore formation.



Fig. 27. Schematic drawing of proteins as perturbation of the lipid membrane state. Top: Protein with long hydrophobic length embedded into a fluid lipid membrane. Bottom: Protein with short hydrophobic length embedded into a gel lipid membrane. Due to wetting of the protein interface the lipids close to the protein are in a transition state with high fluctuations and an increased likelihood of lipid channel formation.

possible explanations for the location of permeation pores discussed in Section 5.5.

8.2. Proteins as membrane perturbations

The gel-fluid domain interface is not the only region of large fluctuations. Macromolecules as proteins can also create interfaces with lipids that influence their phase behavior. Two examples are given in Fig. 25, showing the influence of cytochrome b_5 and band 3 protein of erythrocytes on the melting behavior of DPPC and DMPC membranes. While cyt. *b*₅ lowers the melting point, band 3 protein is increasing it. It has been shown in [88] that this can be understood if one assumes that the first protein mixes well with fluid membranes but not with gel membranes, while the second protein mixes better with gel and not so well with fluid regions. Mouritsen and Bloom [90] proposed that this is due to hydrophobic matching that compares the length of the hydrophobic core of the integral protein with the thickness of the membrane. Good miscibility suggests that the hydrophobic core of the protein has a similar length then the surrounding membrane. Bad miscibility indicates hydrophobic mismatch.

Gramicidin A is a small dimeric channel peptide. As shown in Fig. 26 (left) it is significantly shorter than a gel lipid of DPPC. Thus, one expects unfavorable hydrophobic matching in the gel phase of DPPC. Fig. 26 (center) shows the distribution of gel and fluid state lipids and the proteins as obtained from a Monte Carlo simulation that was based on heat capacity analysis [88]. The simulation was performed slightly below the melting temperature of DPPC. While most of the matrix is found in its gel state with some remaining fluid domains, the proteins aggregate into smaller clusters. Fig. 26 (right) shows the corresponding local fluctuations. One finds that the fluctuations are maximum at the interface of the protein clusters. This indicates that the protein interface also forms a membrane region with larger likelihood of lipid channel formation. The results from the simulation are summarized in Fig. 27 that is a variation of a picture from Mouritsen and Bloom used to illustrate their mattress model [90]. If a protein with large hydrophobic length is penetrating a fluid membrane with smaller thickness, the lipids at the interface of the protein will be close to the melting regime, which is due to wetting of the hydrophobic core of the protein (Fig. 27, top). Thus, at this interface fluctuations are large and the likelihood of lipid channel formation is maximum. Similarly, if the protein has a short hydrophobic length and is surrounded by a gel membrane of larger thickness, the protein interface will constitute a location for lipid channel formation (Fig. 27, top). It is a general predictions from such simulations that the tendency of proteins to aggregate and their potential to trigger lipid ion channel formation are closely coupled.

The role of the protein in such a scenario can be seen as doping the membrane and influence the physics of its surrounding, much like in semiconductors where the doping agent gallium can influence the physics of silicon. However, the proteins in this situation do not conduct ions themselves. Rather the outer interface of the protein is the site of permeation. All arguments arguing in favor of a selectivity³ of a protein pore (channel protein) would also be true for the outer interface. Thus, the protein in the above situation could be considered as an inverted pore (the pore interface is on the outside). The physics, however, is that of the lipid membrane.

9. Discussion

We have reviewed here some of the literature indicating the presence of quantized channel events in lipid membranes. It is a striking fact that one finds such events in membranes that do not contain proteins. The currents display typical amplitudes in the 10 pA regime at voltages around 100 mV. Typical life times are of order 1–10 ms but can be much longer in some experiments. These currents can be inhibited by anesthetics [2] but most likely by everything that shifts melting transitions, including peptides and neurotransmitters. They respond to pressure, tension, pH, calcium, voltage and other variables. In some sense one could consider the overall membrane as a sensitive receptor for all of these variables if one is close to a transition.

9.1. Comparison with proteins

When comparing the lipid ion channels with protein channels it has to be stated that

 typical conductances and lifetimes of protein and lipid channels are of similar magnitude. The two classes of events are seemingly indistinguishable.

If two events cannot be distinguished one has to reconsider what the factual evidence actually is that allows to attribute the current events to different processes. The findings on lipid channels reported here imply that

- 1. the observation of quantized currents is no proof for the action of ion channel proteins.
- 2. the action of a drug on a conduction event is no proof for specific binding of the drug to a channel protein.

In logics, elementary rules of inference distinguish between necessary and sufficient criteria. For channel proteins it must be concluded that the finding of quantized currents alone is neither necessary nor sufficient to infer the action of a receptor. The quantized current could be through the lipid membrane, and there is no particular reason why that quantization should indicate the action of a macromolecule. Similarly, the action of drugs is not sufficient to infer specific binding. The drug could have an effect without binding, as shown in Section 6.3 for the anesthetics. For example, the inference that the abolition of channel events in biomembranes by tetrodotoxin (TTX) proves the action of a sodium channel protein and the specific

³ According to Einstein [91] an all-or-nothing selectivity of a membrane (or a membrane protein) for a particular substance violates the laws of thermodynamics. Therefore, we rather refer to different permeation rates.

binding of TTX to this channel is not admissible without additional information, which is typically not provided in the literature.

The experiments reviewed in this paper do not provide evidence disproving the action of protein channels in biological membranes. However, the data provide considerable evidence that one can find the same events in the absence of proteins and therefore one does not necessarily require proteins as an explanation. While the existence of lipid channels is easy to prove because a lipid membrane can be measured in the absence of proteins, it is presently impossible to measure protein channel conductances in the absence of a membrane. Thus, it is much more difficult to actually prove that a protein ion channel is really active in an experiment. From a patch-clamp experiment it is impossible to conclude, which path a particular current event has taken. The patch area is between 1 and 100 μm^2 while the cross section of a single channel protein, e.g. the potassium channel, is rather 25 nm² = $25 \cdot 10^{-6} \mu m^2$. A typical aqueous pore has a diameter of 0.5 nm. Since no experiment can actually monitor the path of the ions and therefore demonstrate the existence of a particular pore inside a membrane protein, the argument is typically of rather indirect nature:

- the protein increases the probability to find conduction events, and conductivities are small in the absence of the proteins
- the currents can be blocked by specific drugs as tetrodotoxin (TTX) or tetraethylammonium (TEA) and
- site specific mutation can alter or block the currents.

One must state that it has been incorrectly assumed that the lipid membrane is inert and does not display quantized conduction events. Second, proteins can act as perturbations of the membrane and thus have the potential of altering the state of the membrane. A direct proof for this effect on channel formation is still missing, but it is straight-forward to conclude this from the thermodynamics described in this article. Therefore, a conductance that displays a protein concentration dependence must be taken as a proof for a correlation of the proteins with the conduction events but not as a proof for the conductance through a pore in the protein itself. Conduction events in lipid membranes depend also on the concentration of drugs like anesthetics (as shown in Section 6.3) even though anesthetic molecules do not form channels. The dangers of confusing lipid with protein channels may be evident in a publication by Cannon et al. [92]. These authors found that calcium channels reconstituted in lipid mixtures are not only most active at the phase boundaries of the lipid phase diagram but also display the longest dwell times. While there is no particular reason why a protein should behave this way, this is exactly the behavior expected for lipid ion channels in lipid membranes at phase boundaries (dwell times are long in the transition, see Section 7). The channel conductances in this paper were the same as, e.g., in the lipid mixture shown in Fig. 11. A similar behavior was found for the KcsA potassium channel reconstituted into a membrane with a melting transition ([93] and H.M. Seeger, personal communication). Further, MacKinnon et al. [94] showed that the potassium channel conduction properties depend very sensitively on the lipid environment proving a connection between state of the lipid membrane and protein channels. The authors assumed that the voltage sensors of these proteins are lipid-controlled. The effect of anesthetics on lipid membrane pores is very similar to that reported for the acetylcholine receptor and many other channel proteins (reviewed in [56]).

9.2. Nerve pulses

In a series of recent publications it has been shown that close to melting transitions of lipid membranes one expects the possibility of electromechanical pulse propagation (solitons) in cylindrical membrane tubes [16,65,95,96]. These solitons in fact share many properties with the action potential in nerves that cannot be explained by the Hodgkin–Huxley model, e.g., reversible heating of the nerve, and mechanical alterations like thickness changes and length changes. Thus, it may be

possible that the nerve pulse can be explained without involving ion channel proteins. However, exactly under the conditions under which such electromechanical solitons can propagate one also expects the formation of lipid ion channels. As shown in this article, everything that alters the phase behavior will alter the lipid channel appearance and simultaneously the free energy necessary to induce a nervous pulse when following an electromechanical approach to rationalize the phenomenology of the action potential [16]. This is a beautiful correlation purely based on the thermodynamics of the lipid membrane that is well understood as shown here.

10. Conclusion

Taking the extreme relevance of the finding of quantized currents in artificial membrane where any effect of proteins can be excluded it is quite surprising that this phenomenon has not been studied more intensively. Not only do these currents display similar conductances as proteins channels, but obviously similar fluctuation life times. Since many biomembranes exist in a state close to melting transitions of their membranes, the striking similarity between the lipid and protein events suggests that these events are difficult or even impossible to distinguish. Should in fact some of the reported protein conductances be due to lipid pores, the theoretical description of such channels would rather lie in the thermodynamics of the membrane and its cooperative phase behavior than in the geometry of individual proteins. A discussion of the lipid channel phenomenon and its connection with protein channels is overdue.

Even though there have been reports on lipid ion channels for 30 years the investigation of lipid ion channels is still in an early stage. Many of the thermodynamics couplings described in this article have not been tested yet by experiment. However, already now many of the implications of applying the fluctuation–dissipation theorem to lipid channels found experimental verification, e.g., the coupling between life times and heat capacity, the effect of pH, anesthetic drugs and lateral tension. Many further experiments are needed to get better statistics of the membrane conductance and the influence of various parameters. It would in particular be nice to demonstrate the influence of proteins that cannot be channel proteins (for instance peripheral proteins) on the quantized conductance of lipid membranes. Such experiments are not difficult and will most likely be done in the near future.

Acknowledgments

I wish to give special tribute to Prof. Alfred Blume to whom this issue is dedicated. He was among the first scientists to stress the importance of thermodynamics in understanding the function of biological membranes. Many topics that I have investigated during my career were actually treated by Dr. Blume long time before I even thought about these phenomena. This includes his investigations on relaxation time scales in phase transitions of membranes [76–78] that are used here in the context of lipid ion channel life times, and the permeation of water through lipid membranes [6]. In this context Dr. Blume already pointed out that the origin of lipid membrane permeation s.

I thank Matthias Fidorra, Katarzyna Wodzinska, Andreas Blicher, Katrine R. Laub and Klaus B. Pedersen who performed permeability measurements in my lab.

References

- A.L. Hodgkin, A.F. Huxley, A quantitative description of membrane current and its application to conduction and excitation in nerve, J. Physiol. 117 (1952) 500–544.
- [2] A. Blicher, K. Wodzinska, M. Fidorra, M. Winterhalter, T. Heimburg, The temperature dependence of lipid membrane permeability, its quantized nature, and the influence of anesthetics, Biophys. J. 96 (2009) 4581–4591.

- [3] D. Papahadjopoulos, K. Jacobson, S. Nir, T. Isac, Phase transitions in phospholipid vesicles. fluorescence polarization and permeability measurements concerning the effect of temperature and cholesterol. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 311 (1973) 330–340.
- [4] J.F. Nagle, H.L. Scott, Lateral compressibility of lipid mono- and bilayers lateral compressibility of lipid mono- and bilayers. theory of membrane permeability, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 513 (1978) 236–243.
- [5] M.C. Sabra, K.J. rgensen, O.G. Mouritsen, Lindane suppresses the lipid-bilayer permeability in the main transition region, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1282 (1996) 85–92.
- [6] M. Jansen, A. Blume, A comparative study of diffusive and osmotic water permeation across bilayers composed of phospholipids with different head groups and fatty acyl chains, Biophys. J. 68 (1995) 997–1008.
- [7] M. Yafuso, S.J. Kennedy, A.R. Freeman, Spontaneous conductance changes, multilevel conductance states and negative differential resistance in oxidized cholesterol black lipid membranes, J. Membr. Biol. 17 (1974) 201–212.
- [8] V.F. Antonov, V.V. Petrov, A.A. Molnar, D.A. Predvoditelev, A.S. Ivanov, The appearance of single-ion channels in unmodified lipid bilayer membranes at the phase transition temperature, Nature 283 (1980) 585–586.
- [9] G. Boheim, W. Hanke, H. Eibl, Lipid phase transition in planar bilayer membrane and its effect on carrier- and pore-mediated ion transport, Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. U. S.A. 77 (1980) 3403–3407.
- [10] K. Kaufmann, I. Silman, Proton-induced ion channels through lipid bilayer membranes, Naturwissenschaften 70 (1983) 147–149.
- [11] K. Kaufmann, I. Silman, The induction by protons of ion channels through lipid bilayer membranes, Biophys. Chem. 18 (1983) 89–99.
- [12] V.F. Antonov, E.V. Shevchenko, E.T. Kozhomkulov, A.A. Molnar, E.Y. Smirnova, Capacitive and ionic currents in BLM from phosphatidic acid in Ca²⁺-induced phase transition, Biochem. Biophys. Research Comm. 133 (1985) 1098–1103.
- [13] T. Heimburg, Thermal biophysics of membranes, Wiley VCH, Berlin, Germany, 2007.
 [14] J.C. Reinert, J.M. Steim, Calorimetric detection of a membrane-lipid phase
- transition in living cells, Science 168 (1970) 1580–1582. [15] J.L.C.M. van de Vossenberg, A.J.M. Driessen, M.S. da Costa, W.N. Konings,
- Homeostasis of the membrane proton permeability in *Bacillus subtilis* grown at different temperatures, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1419 (1999) 97–104.
- [16] T. Heimburg, A.D. Jackson, On soliton propagation in biomembranes and nerves, Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 102 (2005) 9790–9795.
- [17] J.R. Hazel, Influence of thermal acclimation on membrane lipid composition of rainbow trout liver, Am. J. Physiol. Regulatory Integrative Comp. Physiol. 287 (1979) R633–R641.
- [18] S.V. Avery, D. Lloyd, J.L. Harwood, Temperature-dependent changes in plasmamembrane lipid order and the phagocytic activity of the amoeba *Acanthamoeba castellanii* are closely correlated, Biochem. J. 312 (1995) 811–816.
- [19] E.F. DeLong, A.A. Yayanos, Adaptation of the membrane lipids of a deep-sea bacterium to changes in hydrostatic pressure, Science 228 (1985) 1101–1103.
- [20] LO. Ingram, Changes in lipid composition of *Escherichia coli* resulting from growth with organic solvents and with food additives, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 33 (1977) 1233–1236.
- [21] M. Montal, P. Mueller, Formation of bimolecular membranes from lipid monolayers and a study of their electrical properties, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S. A. 69 (12) (1972) 3561–3566.
- [22] E. Neher, B. Sakmann, Single-channel currents recorded from membrane of denervated frog muscle fibres, Nature 260 (1976) 779–802.
- [23] R. Coronado, R. Latorre, Phospholipid bilayers made from monolayers on patchclamp pipettes, Biophys. J. 43 (1983) 231–236.
- [24] W. Hanke, C. Methfessel, U. Wilmsen, G. Boheim, Ion channel reconstruction into lipid bilayer membranes on glass patch pipettes, Bioelectrochem. Bioenerg. 12 (1984) 329–339.
- [25] H. Hauser, M.C. Phillips, M. Stubbs, Ion permeability of phospholipid bilayers, Nature 239 (1972) 342–344.
- [26] P. Agre, M. Bonhivers, M.J. Borgnia, The aquaporins, blueprints for cellular plumbing systems, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (1998) 14659–14662.
- [27] O.P. Hamill, A. Marty, E. Neher, B. Sakmann, F.J. Sigworth, Improved patch-clamp techniques for high-resolution current recording from cells and cell-free membrane patches, Pflügers Arch. 391 (1981) 85–100.
- [28] A. Brüggemann, M. George, M. Klau, M. Beckler, J. Steindl, J.C. Behrends, N. Fertig, High quality ion channel analysis on a chip with the NPC technology, Assay Drug Dev. Technol. 1 (2003) 665–673.
- [29] T.M. Suchyna, V.S. Markin, F. Sachs, Biophysics and structure of the patch and the gigaseal, Biophys. J. 97 (2009) 738–747.
- [30] B. Hille, Ionic channels of excitable membranes, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1992.
- [31] K. Yoshikawa, T. Fujimoto, T. Shimooka, H. Terada, N. Kumazawa, T. Ishii, Electrical oscillation and fluctuations in phospholipid membranes. phospholipids can form a channel without protein, Biophys. Chem. 29 (1988) 293–299.
- [32] D.J. Woodbury, Pure lipid vesicles can induce channel-like conductances in planar bilayers, J. Membr. Biol. 109 (1989) 145–150.
- [33] K. Kaufmann, W. Hanke, A. Corcia, Ion channels, available at: "http://membranes. nbi.dk/Kaufmann/pdf/1989_Kaufmann_book3_ed.pdf", Caruaru (1989).
- [34] B. Wunderlich, C. Leirer, A. Idzko, U.F. Keyser, V. Myles, T. Heimburg, M. Schneider, Phase state dependent current fluctuations in pure lipid membranes, Biophys. J. 96 (2009) 4592–4597.
- [35] R. Benz, F. Beckers, U. Zimmermann, Reversible electrical breakdown of lipid bilayer membranes: A charge-pulse relaxation study, J. Membr. Biol. 48 (1979) 181–204.
- [36] I.G. Abidor, L.V. Chernomordik, S.I. Sukharev, Y.A. Chizmadzhev, The reversible electrical breakdown of bilayer lipid membranes modified by uranyl ions, Bioelectrochem. Bioenerg. 9 (1982) 141–148.

- [37] E. Neumann, S. Kakorin, K. Tænsing, Fundamentals of electroporative delivery of drugs and genes, Bioelectrochem. Bioenerg. 48 (1999) 3–16.
- [38] V.F. Antonov, A.A. Anosov, V.P. Norik, E.Y. Smirnova, Soft perforation of planar bilayer lipid membranes of dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine at the temperature of the phase transition from the liquid crystalline to gel state, Eur. Biophys. J. 34 (2005) 155–162.
- [39] M. Fidorra, Confocal microscopy, calorimetry and permeability studies on giant lipid vesicles containing ceramides, Ph.D. thesis, University of Southern Denmark (2007).
- [40] P.A. Gurnev, D. Harries, V.A. Parsegian, S.M. Bezrukov, The dynamic side of the Hofmeister effect: a single-molecule nanopore study of specific complex formation, Chem. Phys. Chem. 10 (2009) 1445–1449.
- [41] M.G. Cacace, E.M. Landau, J.J. Ramsden, The Hofmeister series: salt and solvent effects on interfacial phenomena, Quart. Rev. Biophys. 30 (1997) 241–277.
- [42] E. Overton, Über die osmotischen Eigenschaften der lebenden Pflanzen und Thierzelle, Vierteljahresschr. Naturforsch. Ges. Zürich 40 (1895) 159–201.
- [43] D.G. Levitt, Kinetics of movement in narrow channels, Curr. Top. Membr. Transp. 21 (1984) 181–198.
- [44] A. Finkelstein, Water Movement through Lipid Bilayers, Pores, and Plasma Membranes, Theory and Reality, Wiley, 1987 Vol. 4 of Distinguished Lecture Series of the Society of General Physiologists.
- [45] R.W. Glaser, S.L. Leikin, L.V. Chernomordik, V.F. Pastushenko, A.I. Sokirko, Reversible breakdown of lipid bilayers: Formation and evolution of pores, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 940 (1988) 275–287.
- [46] M. Winterhalter, W. Helfrich, Effect of voltage on pores in membranes, Phys. Rev. A 36 (1987) 5874–5876.
- [47] R. Böckmann, R. de Groot, S. Kakorin, E. Neumann, H. Grubmüller, Kinetics, statistics, and energetics of lipid membrane electroporation studied by molecular dynamics simulations, Biophys. J. 95 (2008) 1837–1850.
- [48] A. Einstein, Theorie der Opaleszenz von homogenen Flüssigkeitsgemischen in der Nähe des kritischen Zustandes, Ann. Phys. (Leipzig) 33 (1910) 1275–1298.
- [49] L. Onsager, Reciprocal relations in irreversible processes. I. Phys. Rev. 37 (1931) 405–426.
- [50] L. Onsager, Reciprocal relations in irreversible processes. II. Phys. Rev. 38 (1931) 2265–2279.
- [51] D. Kondepudi, I. Prigogine, Modern thermodynamics, Wiley, Chichester, 1998.
- [52] R.F. Greene, H.B. Callen, On the formalism of thermodynamic fluctuation theory, Phys. Rev. 83 (1951) 1231–1235.
- [53] T. Heimburg, Mechanical aspects of membrane thermodynamics. Estimation of the mechanical properties of lipid membranes close to the chain melting transition from calorimetry, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1415 (1998) 147–162.
- [54] H. Ebel, P. Grabitz, T. Heimburg, Enthalpy and volume changes in lipid membranes. i. the proportionality of heat and volume changes in the lipid melting transition and its implication for the elastic constants, J. Phys. Chem. B 105 (2001) 7353–7360.
- [55] L. Cruzeiro-Hansson, O.G. Mouritsen, Passive ion permeability of lipid membranes modelled via lipid-domain interfacial area, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 944 (1988) 63–72.
- [56] K. Wodzinska, A. Blicher, T. Heimburg, The thermodynamics of lipid ion channel formation in the absence and presence of anesthetics. BLM experiments and simulations, Soft Matter 5 (2009) 3319–3330.
- [57] E. Corvera, O.G. Mouritsen, M.A. Singer, M. Zuckermann, The permeability and the effect of acyl-chain length for phospholipid bilayers containing cholesterol: theory and experiment, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1107 (1992) 261–270.
- [58] T. Heimburg, A.D. Jackson, The thermodynamics of general anesthesia, Biophys. J. 92 (2007) 3159–3165, doi:10.1529/biophysj.106.099754.
- [59] H. Meyer, Zur Theorie der Alkoholnarkose. Erste Mittheilung. Welche Eigenschaft der Anästhetica bedingt ihre narkotische Wirkung? Arch. Exp. Pathol. Pharmakol. 425 (1899) 109–118.
- [60] C.E. Overton, Studien über die Narkose, Verlag Gustav Fischer, 1901 English translation: Studies of Narcosis, Chapman and Hall, 1991, R. Lipnick, Ed.
- [61] C.E. Overton, Studies of Narcosis, Chapman and Hall, 1991 English version of 'Studien der Narkose' from 1901.
- [62] H.M. Seeger, M.L. Gudmundsson, T. Heimburg, How anesthetics, neurotransmitters, and antibiotics influence the relaxation processes in lipid membranes, J. Phys. Chem. B 111 (2007) 13858–13866.
- [63] J.E. Rothman, J. Lenard, Membrane asymmetry, Science 195 (1977) 743–753.
 [64] J.E. Rothman, E.P. Kennedy, Asymmetrical distribution of phospholipids in the
- membrane of bacillus megaterium, J. Mol. Biol. 110 (1977) 603–618.
- [65] T. Heimburg, A.D. Jackson, On the action potential as a propagating density pulse and the role of anesthetics, Biophys. Rev. Lett. 2 (2007) 57–78.
- [66] H. Träuble, M. Teubner, P. Woolley, H. Eibl, Electrostatic interactions at charged lipid membranes. i. effects of ph and univalent cations on membrane structure. Biophys. Chem. 4 (1976) 319–342.
- [67] V.F. Antonov, E.Y. Smirnova, E.V. Shevchenko, Electric field increases the phase transition temperature in the bilayer membrane of phosphatidic acid, Chem. Phys. Lipids 52 (1990) 251–257.
- [68] A. Jakli, J. Harden, C. Notz, C. Bailey, Piezoelectricity of phospholipids: a possible mechanism for mechanoreception and magnetoreception in biology, Liquid Cryst. 35 (2008) 395–400.
- [69] K.Y.C. Lee, H.M. McConnell, Effect of electric-field gradients on lipid monolayer membranes, Biophys. J. 68 (1995) 1740–1751.
- [70] H. Gögelein, H. Koepsell, Channels in planar bilayers made from commercially available lipids, Pflügers Arch. 401 (1984) 433–434.
- [71] T. Baumgart, S.T. Hess, W.W. Webb, Imaging coexisting fluid domains in biomembrane models coupling curvature and line tension, Nature 425 (2003) 821–824.

- [72] W. Burack, Q. Yuan, R. Biltonen, Role of lateral phase separation in the modulation of phospholipase A₂ activity, Biochemistry 32 (1993) 583–589.
- [73] F.H. Johnson, E.A. Flagler, Hydrostatic pressure reversal of narcosis in tadpoles, Science 112 (1950) 91–92.
- [74] A. Punnia-Moorthy, Evaluation of ph changes in inflammation of the subcutaneous air pouch lining in the rat, induced by carrageenan, dextran and *Staphylococcus aureus*, J. Oral Pathol. 16 (1987) 36–44.
 [75] T.Y. Tsong, Kinetics of the crystalline-liquid crystalline phase transition of
- [75] T.Y. Tsong, Kinetics of the crystalline–liquid crystalline phase transition of dimyristoyl L-lecithin bilayers, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 71 (1974) 2684–2688.
 [76] B. Gruenewald, A. Blume, F. Watanabe, Kinetic investigations on the phase
- transition of phospholipid bilayers, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 597 (1980) 41–52.
- [77] K. Elamrani, A. Blume, Phase transition kinetics of phosphatidic acid bilayers. a pressure-jump relaxation study, Biochemistry 22 (1983) 3305–3311.
- [78] A. Blume, M. Hillmann, Dimyristoylphosphatidic acid/cholesterol bilayers. thermodynamic properties and kinetics of the phase transition as studied by the pressure jump relaxation technique, Europ, Biophys. J. 13 (1986) 343–353.
- [79] W.W. van Osdol, R.L. Biltonen, M.L. Johnson, Measuring the kinetics of membrane phase transition, J. Bioener. Biophys. Methods 20 (1989) 1–46.
- [80] W.W. van Osdol, M.L. Johnson, Q. Ye, R.L. Biltonen, Relaxation dynamics of the gel to liquid crystalline transition of phosphatidylcholine bilayers. Effects of chainlength and vesicle size, Biophys. J. 59 (1991) 775–785.
- [81] P. Grabitz, V.P. Ivanova, T. Heimburg, Relaxation kinetics of lipid membranes and its relation to the heat capacity, Biophys. J. 82 (2002) 299–309.
- [82] J. Gallaher, K. Wodzinska, T. Heimburg, M. Bier, Ion-channel-like behavior in lipid bilayer membranes at the melting transition, Submitted. arXiv:1004.1126v1.
- [83] V. Oliynyk, U. Kaatze, T. Heimburg, Pore formation of lytic peptides in lipid membranes and their influence on the thermodynamic properties of the pore environment, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1768 (2007) 236–245.
- [84] O.G. Mouritsen, Computer simulation of cooperative phenomena in lipid membranes, in: R. Brasseur (Ed.), Molecular description of biological membrane components by computer aided conformational analysis, CRC Press, Boca Raton, 1990, pp. 3–83.
- [85] O.G. Mouritsen, M.M. Sperotto, J. Risbo, Z. Zhang, M.J. Zuckermann, Computational approach to lipid–protein interactions in membranes, in: H. Villar (Ed.), Advances in Computational Biology, JAI Press, Greenwich, Conneticut, 1995, pp. 15–64.
- [86] O.G. Mouritsen, K. Jorgensen, Micro-, nano- and meso-scale heterogeneity of lipid bilayers and its influence on macroscopic membrane properties, Mol. Membr. Biol. 12 (1995) 15–20.

- [87] T. Heimburg, R.L. Biltonen, A Monte Carlo simulation study of protein-induced heat capacity changes, Biophys. J. 70 (1996) 84–96.
- [88] V.P. Ivanova, I.M. Makarov, T.E. Schäffer, T. Heimburg, Analyzing heat capacity profiles of peptide-containing membranes: cluster formation of gramicidin A, Biophys. J. 84 (2003) 2427–2439.
- [89] H. Seeger, M. Fidorra, T. Heimburg, Domain size and fluctuations at domain interfaces in lipid mixtures, Macromol. Symposia 219 (2005) 85–96.
- [90] O.G. Mouritsen, M. Bloom, Mattress model of lipid-protein interactions in membranes, Biophys. J. 46 (1984) 141–153.
- [91] A. Einstein, Über die thermodynamische Theorie der Potentialdifferenz zwischen Metallen und vollständig dissociirten Lösungen ihrer Salze und über eine elektrische Methode zur Erforschung der Molekularkräfte, Ann. Phys. (Leipzig) 8 (1902) 798–814.
- [92] B. Cannon, M. Hermansson, S. Györke, P. Somerharju, J.A. Virtanen, Regulation of calcium channel activity by lipid domain formation in planar lipid bilayers, Biophys. J. 85 (2003) 933–942.
- [93] H.M. Seeger, A. Alessandrini, P. Facci, KcsA redistribution upon lipid domain formation in supported lipid bilayers and its functional implications, Biophys. J. 98 (2010) 371a.
- [94] D. Schmidt, Q.-X. Jiang, R. MacKinnon, Phospholipids and the origin of cationic gating charges in voltage sensors, Nature 444 (7120) (2006) 775–779, doi:10.1038/ nature05416.
- [95] B. Lautrup, A. D. Jackson, T. Heimburg, The stability of solitons in biomembranes and nerves, arXiv:physics/0510106.
- [96] S.S.L. Andersen, A.D. Jackson, T. Heimburg, Towards a thermodynamic theory of nerve pulse propagation, Progr. Neurobiol. 88 (2009) 104–113.
- [97] T. Heimburg, Die Physik von Nerven, Physik J. 8 (3) (2009) 33-39.
- [98] M. Fidorra, Untersuchung des Phasenverhaltens von Membranen durch konfokale Mikroskopie und Kalorimetrie, Master's thesis, University of Göttingen (2004).
- [99] E. Freire, T. Markello, C. Rigell, P.W. Holloway, Calorimetric and fluorescence characterization of interactions between cytochrome b₅ and phosphatidylcholine bilayers, Biochemistry 28 (1983) 5634–5643.
- [100] M.R. Morrow, J.H. Davis, F.J. Sharom, M.P. Lamb, Studies of the interaction of human erythrocyte band 3 with membrane lipids using deuterium nuclear magnetic resonance and differential scanning calorimetry, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 858 (1986) 13–20.